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1. About ASA Bank

ASA Bank is a symbol of stability and progress in the domestic market. 
Significant acquisitions carried out in a short period of time have further 
strengthened our position as the largest domestic bank in BiH

As the third largest bank on the market with 64 branches throughout 
BiH, it successfully solves the requirements and needs of its clients 
with an innovative approach, building long-term partnerships that are 
the foundation of its business.  ASA Bank is an example of the synergy 
of sixty-year banking tradition and the strength of modern business.  
With our dedicated work, we continue to work on improving services 
for customer satisfaction, introducing new technologies and innovations 
that will shape the future of banking in BiH. 

Through its mission and vision, ASA Bank expresses its affiliation to a 
strong business system, and its commitment to support the development 
of the economy and society as a whole in Bosnia and Herzegovina is 
manifested through its active participation in economic initiatives and 
projects of larger significance. The activities that the Bank does for the 
local community and the improvement of the lives of each individual are 
particularly emphasized.

An extremely successful year for ASA Bank and a continuous upward 
trend in all business parameters are a clear indicator of commitment 
to innovation, excellence and sustainable development. Stable growth 
with indispensable strong support for the development of Bosnia-
Herzegovinian economy remains imperative for ASA Bank’s operations 
in the coming year, all with the aim of ensuring the progress of the entire 
society.
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2. A word from the Chairman of the Management Board

Dear employees, clients and partners,
 
It is my pleasure to greet you at the very 
beginning of another Annual Report, where 
we will summarize the key successes and 
achievements of our Bank during 2023. 
This year was marked by significant growth 
in all business segments, which further 
strengthened our position in the market.

To confirm this, I would like to point out that 
ASA Bank’s net profit for 2023 is BAM 46 
million, which represents an increase of BAM 
8.5 million compared to the previous year. 
This result has been achieved thanks to the 
stable business operations and the trust that 
clients have placed in our services.  In 2023, 
the net loan-to-deposit ratio was 68.6%, and 
the total assets of the Bank reached BAM 3,018 
million, with an increase of 7.8% compared to 
the previous year. Gross loans to our clients 
increased by 8.6% and at the end of 2023 they 
amounted to BAM 1,857 million. Also, the our 
clients’s deposits recorded a growth of 7.2%, 
ending the year with the amount of BAM 2,584 
million.
 
Our commitment to innovation and service 
improvement has yielded significant results. We 
have ensured efficient operations through the 
optimization of the business network and the 
integration of modern technological solutions 
that improve our service. The implementation 
of digital platforms has provided our clients 
with easy access to services, thus increasing 
customer satisfaction and competitiveness in 
the market. We are currently present through 
64 branches in BiH, and this year we continue 
to expand with a step forward in the RS market.   

Being aware that the Bank’s success directly 
depends on the skills and dedication of the 
entire team,  we have implemented various 
initiatives and programs that have resulted 
in strengthening the competencies of our 
employees. We are continuously working on 
creating a positive work environment in which 
integrity, transparency, openness, proactivity, 
teamwork and openness are valued.

Also, through the strategy of sustainability 
and social responsibility, we actively help the 
development of the local community and 
improve the quality of life of our fellow citizens. 
In this way, we go a step further in our mission 
to be not only a financially, but also a socially 
responsible partner in the entire community.
 
I would like to thank all our employees for their 
hard work and dedication, as well as our clients 
and partners for the trust they place in ASA 
Bank. Our goal remains clear - to strengthen 
our presence in the banking market and to 
ensure that ASA Banka is a symbol of stability 
and innovation and a strong support for the 
economy and the population throughout BiH.         

Chairman of the ASA Bank 
Management Board  
Samir Mustafić
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President of the Management Board 
Samir Mustafić
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3. Key indicators

In thousands BAM	 31.12.2023	 31.12.2022	 31.12.2021	 31.12.2020	 31.12.2019	 31.12.2018

Total loans                   1.855.139	 1.708.641	 617.847             408.220	 373.333	 345.360

Total deposits 	 2.615.241	 2.413.343	 920.946	 565.084	 477.210	 424.840

Total assets     	 3.026.450	 2.816.166	 1.037.220	 640.583	 556.014	 517.602

Capital                          315.037	 336.390	  93.481	             62.549	             68.170	             62.298

46.005	             18.856	              6.714	              4.053	              5.750	              5.235Profit after 
tax
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4. Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

a. Retail business development and delivery channels

In the segment of products and services, Product Campaigns for loans of natural persons were 
implemented below (chronologically presented):

	» Special offers/campaigns for Retail loans:
•	 Special offer “Kreditne vrate” - replacement/general-purpose loans
•	 Special offer “Za vašu priču” / “For Your Story” - housing loans
•	 Special offer for the purchase of units from the Investor - housing loans
•	 Special offer “Loan without worries” - substitute general-purpose loans
•	 Special offer for pensioners-replacement/non-purpose loan
	» Special offers/campaigns for Micro clients loans:

•	 Special offer for Micro clients - short and long term loans
•	 Special offers/campaigns for Micro clients:
•	 Special offer for Micro clients – service packages
	» Other special offers/campaigns for Retail loans:

•	 Special offer of time deposits
•	 Back to school
•	 Investment Days - Life insurance sales campaigns
•	 Campaign to increase the utilization of approved current account overdrafts - Retail
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During 2023, the activities in the segment of business with individuals and entrepreneurs were focused 
on the acquisition of new and retaining the existing clients, improving services, raising the quality of 
services, managing the client base and the existing loan and deposit portfolio.

Meaningful and targeted activities have ensured the growth of the loan and deposit portfolio, expansion 
and better utilization of the existing client base, linking products and services in use into one adequate 
and client-friendly Product Package.

The total loan portfolio in the segment of business with individuals and entrepreneurs recorded a 
growth of 4.36% compared to the situation as of 31 December 2022. 

The total deposit portfolio in the segment of business with individuals and entrepreneurs also 
recorded an increase of 4.48% compared to the situation as of 31 December 2022. 

In addition to sales activities, the segment activities were also focused on optimization and education 
of the business network. In 2023, the optimization of the Business Network was done in such a way that 
certain organizational units, close to each other, were closed and the portfolio of the same was transferred 
to the nearest organizational unit. 

Also, a new branch has been opened in the Bank’s business network in the Central Bosnia Canton - Kupres 
Branch. With the aim of improving the quality of services, training and upgrading of employees, the 
adoption of new knowledge, skills and competencies, internal and external education are continuously 
implemented.

During 2023, retail lending special offers continuously took place, followed by marketing campaigns, and 
were tailored to the needs of clients and market demands. One of the most successful actions was the 
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“Kreditne vrate” special offer, which aimed not only to increase the loan balance, expand the client base, 
but also to create and develop a sense of clients’ security, satisfaction and loyalty through special benefits 
of the credit facility (refund of one loan installment for all repayment periods of 36 to 60 months, and 
refund of one loan installment every year for repayment periods of 61 to 120 months).

In 2023, the Bank has also thought of our most vulnerable pensioner population and has created a special 
offer of general-purpose/substitute loans for pensioners. 

On the deposit side, in the segment of operations with natural persons and entrepreneurs, special offers 
were carried out to collect time deposits, which were aimed at attracting new clients and increasing the 
Bank’s deposit portfolio.

One of the strategic goals is for the Bank to be a reliable partner, a guarantor of security and stability to 
which clients entrust their money. Special offers of general-purpose time deposits have been created, 
with a fixed interest rate and the option of contracting an automatic extension.

As part of BACK2SCHOOL campaign, which was created for the beginning of the new school year, the Bank 
has concluded special arrangements with certain retailers in the field of selling books, clothing, footwear 
and IT, with additional benefits and adequate discounts for payment with VISA cards at certain partners. 

Projects, activities and achievements in 2023
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Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

b.  Corporate Business

The key activities of the Sector for corporate and public institutions business in 2023 were focused on 
further positioning in the market through the maintaining and increasing of market share in key items, 
i.e., through the credit-guarantee portfolio  volume growth, the maintaining of the quality of the Bank’s 
portfolio, with a special emphasis on strengthening the deposit base. 

The Sector for corporate and public Institutions business has worked intensively on sales activities and 
financing of the most important projects throughout BiH related to project financing, as well as projects 
aimed at supporting the development of the local economy and employment. 

The Bank’s total corporate loan portfolio as consolidated had a growth of 12% compared to 31 December 
2022. The Bank continued to finance and monitor legal entities, and in addition to the credit facilities that 
were used for subsidizing and lending to the economy in the Sarajevo Canton and in the Municipality 
of Novi Grad Sarajevo, a World Bank credit facility was also contracted for the Recovery and Support to 
Companies Project. Also, cooperation with the Development Bank of FBiH in the field of the loan guarantee 
fund continued.

The Bank has also worked intensively on stabilizing and preserving the deposit base of legal entities - 
private companies (corporate clients, entrepreneurs) and clients from the public sector, which at the end 
of 2023 had BAM 1.17 million and BAM 514 million of time deposits in the Bank’s accounts. Corporate 
business continued in the part of trade financing in the form of monitoring guarantee operations, but also 
by financing receivables through factoring agreements. 

In the part of neutral operations, the Bank has enabled the provision of adequate services to its corporate 
clients through domestic and foreign payment transactions. The increase in service users and the use of 
electronic payment channels continued.

In the part of digital services provided to clients, it is necessary to highlight the further expansion of 
the ATS network – self-service devices for cash deposits to the accounts of corporate clients, which 
provide a fast and reliable way of depositing cash, with the identification of users based on a cash 
deposit card.
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c.  Risk Management

Risk Management System is the comprehensiveness of the organizational structure, rules, procedures 
and resources that includes: identification of risks to which the Bank is or may be exposed in its 
operations, analysis of identified risks, measurement of risk, determination of significance of risk exposure, 
determination of risk appetite and risk profile, risk control and monitoring, stress testing, capital planning 
and capital adequacy monitoring,  liquidity planning and liquidity adequacy monitoring, reporting risks, 
and proposing actions to avoid the negative effects of risk exposure.  The risk management process 
implies the establishment of appropriate:

•	 corporate governance, and 
•	 a culture of risk in the day-to-day operations of the Bank.    

The risk management process includes regular and timely identification, measurement/assessment, 
stress testing, active risk management/risk governance and risk monitoring, as well as risk reporting. 

At all times, the Bank thoroughly and diligently performs: 

•	 identification of all risks to which it is or may be exposed in the course of its business activities in each 
business segment and location;

•	 quantifying the risks that may have an impact on the Bank’s current and/or future revenues and on the 
regulatory and internal/economic capital available;

•	 in the process of quantification, special attention is paid to comparing the existing extent of risk with 
the expected, unexpected, projected or extent of risk under stress conditions;

•	 all decisions are made taking into account not only the return of funds, but also the impact of risks;
•	 risk management by taking appropriate risk mitigation activities;
•	 the ongoing management and monitoring of all risks to which the Bank is or may be exposed;
•	 risk management and control processes adapt to changes in the operating environment in a timely 

manner.

In accordance with Article 24 - 30 of the Decision on the Internal Governance System in Banks (“Official 
Gazette of FBiH”, No. 39/21), Article 8 of the Decision on the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process in Banks of the FBiH Banking Agency (Official Gazette 
of the FBiH, nos. 16/19 and 30/20), the Risk Management Sector/ Risk Management Control Function 
regularly conducts comprehensive stress testing for all materially significant risks for which the Bank has 
determined quantitative risk measurement methods through internal capital or liquidity requirements. 
The Bank uses the results of the same when calculating internal capital and liquidity requirements.

Stress testing is an important tool in the processes of risk management and internal determination of the 
Bank’s capital and liquidity adequacy.

Projects, activities and achievements in 2023
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Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

d.  Credit Risk Assessment

Significant resources and sophisticated applications are used for risk analysis and assessment.  The Bank 
has a Credit Risk Assessment Unit whose job is to assess the financial condition of its clients.

Credit risk assessment is a very complex process for all banks. From ancient times until today, the credit 
assessment of clients has not changed much. The clients’ demans and needs are measured in order to 
determine whether the chosen financing method is suitable.

Credit analysis is the process of determining the probability that a client will or will not repay due 
obligations on a loan.

Each bank develops its own tools with which it analyses the submitted financial indicators, and by 
processing such “raw” data, it tries to obtain as much “information” as possible, for the simplest possible 
decision-making on lending. In addition to financial indicators that are quantified and relatively easy to 
measure, the assessment of creditworthiness also analyzes tangible and often very difficult to measure 
data, the so-called  “Soft facts”.

The Credit Risk Assessment Unit ensures the existence and consistent application of policies, 
methodologies and procedures for credit risk assessment at the client level to which the Bank is exposed 
in its operations.

The stress testing covers the most significant areas of the Bank’s operations, as well as events that may 
be particularly damaging to the Bank, including not only events that cause losses to the Bank, but also 
those that may consequently cause damage to the Bank’s reputation.

The internal acts of Stress Testing Program and Stress Testing Methodology define the methodological 
process and guidelines for conducting stress testing for all identified and assessed materially significant 
risk groups.

When conducting the stress testing, the Bank shall include all material risk factors specific to its business 
environment, including factors from the macroeconomic environment.

Based on the results of the stress test, the Bank evaluates the soundness and sustainability of its capital and 
liquidity plans and takes them into account when reporting on the Bank’s ICAAPs and ILAAPs application.
 
The Bank identifies stress resistance scores in relation to own funds, with the aim of assessing the Bank’s 
capacity to absorb losses that may arise from the various shocks applied in the scenarios, while also 
estimating potential losses that may arise from a specific configuration of macroeconomic variables.
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In 2023, the Bank approved loans to individuals, legal entities and craftsmen, short-term with a 
maturity of up to one year and long-term with a maturity of over a year, and approved the issuance 
of guarantees and letters of credit.

Credit exposure for legal entities was generally granted for the purpose of financing fixed assets and 
working capital.

Credit exposure for natural persons was granted for the purpose of current consumption, investments 
in real estate and other purposes.

Collateral Management

Collateral is a secondary source of debt collection, and it occurs when it turns out that the clients are 
unable to meet their obligations under the loan.
 
Collateral valuation is defined in detail by policy, methodology of market appraisal of real estate and 
procedure.  
 
All appraisals of real estate and movable property are based on the sales price comparison approach, 
i.e. the market approach, and include at least one of the following approaches, depending on the type of 
property that is the subject of the valuation:

a) the comparative method, 
b) the revenue method
c) the cost method
(c) another applicable method.

Starting from the basic purpose of collateral, knowledge of the real estate market is crucial in performing 
current operations. Based on expert knowledge, and following primarily the European Valuation Standards 
(EVS), the control of real estate appraisals and reappraisals is started, in order to achieve timely information 
on the value of collateral, which will be useful for monitoring the real estate market.

The Credit Risk Assessment Sector consists of three Departments:

•	 Department for Corporate Credit Risk Assessment
•	 Department for Retail Credit Risk Assessment
•	 Department for Collateral Management 

e.  IT & Security

The use of information technology in all aspects of banking operations has created a great dependence 
on technology, and it is of utmost importance to strategically manage the development of the information 
system as well as to manage the security and protection of the Bank’s systems and assets.

Projects, activities and achievements in 2023
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Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

Information Technology

As part of the process of status changes in the merger of ASA Banka Naša i Snažna d.d. Sarajevo to ASA 
Banka d.d. Sarajevo, integration of information systems has been carried out and significant technological 
improvements have been achieved in the segment of application and infrastructure solutions.

Application Solutions

CORE Bank System (CBS) - The ASEBA Banking Intranet (ASEBA BI) solution has been implemented, the 
service provider is the company Asee d.o.o. Sarajevo. ASEBA BI is an integrated banking application to 
support banking operations. The system consists of functional modules that cover the key functionalities 
of the banking system. The solutions are based on the parameterization of the system, which enables 
simpler and faster implementation of new services and application solutions.   The ASEBA BI system 
provides application support (interface) for connection to electronic banking systems and card transaction 
processing centers, as well as system solutions for electronic banking for legal entities and individuals 
and mobile banking.

ELBA (Mobile and Electronic Banking) - Modern banking follows customers 24 hours a day, wherever 
they are. The role of classic branches has been taken over by mobile and e-banking solutions, which must 
be easy to manage, comfortable and secure, and the bank’s clients expected an offer that was tailored 
to their needs. In order to implement such services, the ELBA solution for Electronic Banking has been 
linked to ASEBA BI, as well as the mBanking solution purchased from PING d.o.o. Sarajevo, and developed 
in accordance with the requirements and needs of the Bank. The data exchange between ASEBA BI and 
the ELBA platform is automated. The ELBA platform is defined as one of the integral parts of the CBS of 
the Bank. ELBA supports a wide range of products and services designed to meet the requirements of 
different clients, where system users can conduct banking operations from anywhere.

DMS system - ASEBA BI is also connected to the DMS solution that enabled the automation of processes 
in the “Back Office” of the Bank, as well as improving efficiency and reducing costs. The modules within 
the DMS platform are as follows: E-Protocol, WMS (Warehouse Management System), Retail Loans and 
Credit Folders, Purchase Orders and KUP (Purchase Ledger), Time Deposits, Budget Module, DMS UPP 
(application for metadata entry), DMS IPP (application for metadata entry), Procurements and Contracts, 
Invoices to Legal Entities, General Registers.

Microsoft Dynamics NAV is a 3rd-party system connected to the ASEBA BI application, through 
which payroll, human resource management system and personnel record module are solved. This 
solution is linked to the Bank’s Active Directory (AD) in order to assign the correct privileges to the 
Bank’s employees in accordance with their positions and job titles. Also, in order to provide access to 
all relevant information in real time, Microsoft Dynamic NAV is connected to the KUF and DMS system, 
recapitulation costs within ASEBA BI, and with authorized services within accounting and finance that 
do posting and payroll calculation for employees. Payroll submission is enabled through Microsoft 
Dynamic NAV via e-mail. Automatic travel orders are created through the module. Microsoft Dynamic 
NAV enables record-keeping, billing and payment under service contracts. Also, requests for the issuance 
of travel orders and the calculation of costs for them are made through Microsoft Dynamic NAV.  
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Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

Security

Ensuring an adequate level of security of the information system on which a functional and secure system 
of the Bank must be based is aimed at preserving three fundamental principles:

•	 System and data integrity refers to the need to protect information from unauthorized or 
incorrect modifications (preserving the correctness and accuracy of data).

•	 Confidentiality is a principle that implies that information within the Bank’s information system 
is not accessible or disclosed to unauthorized persons or processes, i.e., that information and 
resources of the information system are adequately classified and protected.

•	 The availability of data and resources within the information system is a fundamental principle 
of security that implies access and usability of the same at the request of an authorized person, 
i.e., the owner of IT assets.

In 2023, the activities of the Security Sector were focused on the adequate protection of the Bank’s 
information systems, data and assets from all threats, whether internal or external, through the 
establishment, implementation, monitoring, maintenance and improvement of security management 
processes, with the aim of reducing risk exposure.

In order to achieve strategic business goals and preserve the basic principles of security, the Security 
Sector has undertaken a number of activities to optimize and efficiently use the implemented security 
solutions:

Infrastructure

The performance of the information system as a whole has been significantly improved. Work has been 
done to improve the hardware and software infrastructure, new security tools for monitoring and control of 
the information system have been implemented, as well as a new network security perimeter; obsolete IT 
infrastructure and equipment have been replaced, and the consolidation and upgrading of the associated 
operating systems and services has been completed. The implementation of an internal firewall device 
and a Web Proxy from the aspect of controlled access to the Internet has been implemented.  Additional 
improvements in the infrastructure segment are reflected in the construction of a new primary Data 
Centre at the Bank’s headquarters, the provision of a new backup device for data storage, and the review 
and unification of network equipment and link solutions in order to optimize costs.
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Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

IBM QRadar  (Security Information and Event 
Management)  - SIEM solution for monitoring 
system activities, i.e., monitoring of records/logs 
from defined devices in the Bank (servers, network 
equipment, workstations and other key assets).

Dark Trace - a platform that uses Artificial 
Intelligence to detect sophisticated cyber threats, 
from insider threats and criminal espionage, to 
ransomware.

Qualis - a solution for real-time control of 
information system vulnerabilities and risk 
identification  and prioritization, including adequate 
protection measures that most often include the 
installation of patches and/or reconfiguration 
of devices. During 2023, the implementation 
of the solution on all devices within the Bank’s 
information system was completed, which enabled 
control over all servers (Windows, Linux and AIX), 
network equipment, as well as workstations.

In addition to the above, the Bank uses a number 
of other security solutions integrated into the 
integrated MS 2365 E3 platform. The use of 
security solutions and tools through this platform 

enables the Bank to continuously manage, monitor, 
control and verify users and devices before they 
are considered reliable in the information system.

Activities in the segment of information security 
in 2023 were particularly focused on testing the 
security of certain parts of the information system 
through simulation of real attacks in order to 
determine the resilience of the system. The testing 
was carried out for key systems such as ATM 
network, SWIFT infrastructure, mobile and internet 
banking, external network segment, etc. Identified 
deficiencies in the configurations of the tested 
systems are continuously monitored in order to 
mitigate the risks.

In addition, the Bank pays significant attention 
to continuous education and raising awareness 
of employees in order to identify cyber threats 
(such as phishing, social engineering) and 
adequately respond to them. In this regard, the 
Bank conducted a series of employee trainings 
and activities on the implementation of social 
engineering campaigns in order to measure the 
effect of the conducted trainings and assess the 
level of employee awareness regarding the risks 
of information system security and assessed 
the adequacy of employees’ reactions to a real 
scenario of a phishing attack. 
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Projects, activities and achievements in 2023
f. Marketing and Communications

ASA Bank, as the leading domestic bank, has shown that it creates innovative products in accordance 
with the current and real needs of its clients. In order to bring the new product closer to their clients, the 
“Kreditne vrate” campaign was created, which in a nice way presented the installments that are refunded 
every year, i.e., you get one installment back every year. In cooperation with investors Butmir, BauPlan, 
Benis and Star S, a unique offer of loans for the purchase of apartments in the most attractive locations 
with a fixed interest rate during the entire repayment period has been created. With the benefits of 
a single credit facility, we have provided our clients with security and facilitated the furnishing of the 
apartment with partner discounts. Taking care of our clients at the most mature age, we have created a 
line of general-purpose / replacement loans with a special interest rate and the release of current account 
limits.

With the slogan “We continue to grow together”, we support the domestic economy and business 
activities, and we have created a special offer of long-term- and short-term loans intended for micro 
clients and sole proprietorships.

The campaign of general-purpose / replacement loans in cooperation with Eurofarm and ASA Central 
insurance is the best indicator of the strength of the ASA brand. The “Za sve što žiga, kredit bez briga” 
campaign was created, with free health insurance of 1000 BAM.

The housing loan has been created with special care, taking into account the needs of different generations. 
The “Housing loans for all your stories” campaign was created with incredibly favourable conditions, and 
a special benefit was a gift of a household appliance.

In cooperation with our partner Mastercard, we have prepared an invaluable experience of a real winter 
idyll with skiing without waiting in lines.

We have refreshed our most popular loyalty program “Our Wednesday” with a new look, and enriched 
the network of partners with a new partner Dresscode. We continued to create promotional offers and 
activations, and in cooperation with our partners, we brought tenfold points in the form of cash back, i.e., 
refunds on ASA Pika payment cards.

In cooperation with the Visa card company, we launched a prize game “Pay and Win” in which we rewarded 
clients with weekends for couples in the Čardaci Ethno Village. For the end of the year, as part of the “Our 
Wednesday” loyalty program, in cooperation with partners Domod, Dresscode, Hifa Petrol and Mercator, 
we rewarded clients with travel suitcases.

We participated in the “World in 2023” conference, which brought together leading economic experts, 
businessmen and public office holders. One of the speakers was the Chairman of the Management Board, 
Samir Mustafić, who spoke about the challenges in the global and domestic economy, the acquisition of 
Sberbank and the positioning of ASA Banka on the BiH market.

In 2023, the Bank was a Gold Sponsor of the DDays Conference in Banja Luka. The Chairman of the 
Management Board, Samir Mustafić, spoke about the banking sector in a period of uncertainty and the 
impact of the global economy on BiH.

We donated BAM 20,000 for children in their parents’ house as part of the “Buy with your Heart for 
Children” campaign in cooperation with Mastercard. The purpose of such projects is to show responsibility 
to and support those who need it most.
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Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

With its dedicated work on environmental protection and projects aimed at sustainable 
development, ASA Banka takes concrete steps and provides support to social projects of importance 
for the development of BiH society. During 2023, the Bank supported numerous projects aimed 
at the development of the economy, sports and culture. The ASA Banka’s strategy, through the 
implementation of ESG standards, is focused on supporting the local community and socially 
responsible projects, and through active participation in them, it contributes to a better living 
environment for the citizens of BiH. We would especially like to highlight projects aimed at children and 
young people, such as the Kids Hack Day held in Travnik, which brought together 200 children from all 
over the country, and the EXPERT Fair 2023 – an educational and creative fair of industry, economy, labour 
and trade organized by students of the Public Institution Secondary School of Economics in Sarajevo. We 
have supported culture through the sponsorship of the Sarajevo Photography Festival, which gives the 
opportunity to all young artists to present their works, and through the general sponsorship of the annual 
ART House of Sevdah.

An important segment is also the support provided to talented athletes, clubs and events such as: Grand 
Prix Sarajevo 2023, Street Race - Gračanica 5K, B2B Run, Race for the Cure BiH, International Camp - MT3 
Mirza Teletović Jablanica 2023 and many others.

At the 21st traditional bankers’ dinner “Golden BAM”, ASA Banka was awarded with as many as 3 
awards:
•	 The Biggest Growth in Assets
•	 The Highest Growth in Deposits
•	 The Biggest Growth in Loans
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In addition, ASA Banka won the prestigious award “Vision 100 – Business Move in the Banking Sector” 
within the project “The 100 Largest in BiH and the Region”, which has been organized by Poslovne novine 
for 36 years. 

g.  Human Resource Management
Human resources are the core value of ASA Banka. ASA Banka relies on a modern approach to human 
resource management, which is the main source of competitive advantage, successful and sustainable 
development and reputation of the Bank. As the largest domestic bank, we are proud of our employees, 
who are the heart of our business and who, through their work, develop BiH economy.
We create a working environment in which individuality is valued and respected and where excellent 
results are rewarded, and we offer full support for personal development in the form of various 
educations, maintaining a balance between private and business life, as well as support for family and 
health. Taking care of our employees is the foundation and priority in the human resources management 
process, and 2023 is marked by intensified activities in the human resources management segment to 
strengthen the corporate culture and domestic brand of the employer.
Through various programs, ASA Banka monitors and improves activities that significantly contribute to 
the improvement of the employee experience. Our goal is to motivate our employees to succeed, in the 
right way, within the framework of our values cherished by ASA Banka as an employer.

The Bank continuously promotes corporate values, which are the basic pillars of corporate culture. The 
five values that form the key foundation of the Bank’s organizational culture and the key principle of 
mutual functioning are:

1. Integrity

We treat the fulfillment of goals and tasks in a professional, responsible and consistent manner, educate 
and improve our clients, and develop trust and perseverance towards our clients.

2. Transparency and Openness

We understand the impact of openness and transparency. We present our own ideas, timely and reliable 
information in a clear and simple way, respecting the legal framework and the needs of the market.
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3. Proactivity

We monitor, analyze market trends and possibilities of application in everyday business in order to 
improve business processes. We are working today to make a step forward compared to yesterday.

4. Team Work

We selflessly share practices, we are open to suggestions and new ideas, we recognize and respect the 
value of the individual and put the interests of the Team before personal interest.

5. Perseverance

We build a healthy working environment, find adequate solutions, actively listen, build long-term 
partnership, cooperation, trust and do not give up - when we fail, we try again.

ASA Banka ensures the creation of a unique corporate culture through various forms of activities that further 
support the incorporation of ASA Banka’s corporate values into the daily work of employees, namely by 
regularly organizing team-building activities, established onboarding process, dress code policy, regular 
internal communications, feedback culture, performance evaluation culture and result-oriented approach, 
organizational culture research, and promotion of corporate values through employee motivation systems, 
all with the aim of improving the ASA Banka brand, in order to be and remain recognized as a desirable 
employer in the labour market.

On 31 December 2023, the Bank had 674 employees, of which 76% women and 24% men. The average age 
structure of the bank’s employees was 41 years. Of the total number of employees, 58% had a university 
degree.

ASA Banka implements the key-talent retention program through a successor development program for 
management positions and key positions, through which it identifies and develops internal personnel 
with the potential to fill key positions. When hiring new employees, in addition to external candidates, 
the Bank is happy to consider internal candidates, with the aim of developing the careers of existing 
employees and their advancement within the Bank. At the same time, during 2023, the Bank employed 
highly educated and motivated people eager for professional challenges and provided them with the 
opportunity to work in the largest domestic bank in Bosnia and Herzegovina, focusing on inclusion and 
the principle of gender equality.

ASA Banka attaches great importance to high qualifications and further education of its employees, and 
will continue this practice in the future. External and internal trainings are an important part of this strategy, 
which are extensively and continuously implemented at different hierarchical levels, and some of them 
online, through the ASA Banka e-learning platform, with the aim of an efficient and flexible approach to 
learning, regardless of the place of work.

h. Operations

For the Operations Sector, the year of 2023 was primarily marked by activities to stabilize operations after 
the implementation of the Bank Merger Project ending in December 2022.
Although numerous, the challenges in technical and procedural terms have been successfully overcome, 
the operability of functions, processes and technical parameters has been established in a relatively short 
time, and as of the Q2 2023, we can say that the basic and biggest challenges have been resolved, and 
that the Bank has continued its regular operations unhindered.
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The intensive activities of the Operations Division during 2023 represent a complex range of different 
tasks (from personnel issues to complex IT changes and developments):

•	 -	 Assessments, analyses, organization and engagement of the necessary human resources for the 
functionality and efficiency of organizational units (departments) of Operations;

•	 -	 Analyses and corrections of data and functions of information systems after the completed 
migration to the new CBS database;

•	 -	 Organization and modification of business processes, both internally and those related to other 
organizational units of the Bank;

•	 -	 Implementation of card schemes projects (VISA and MasterCard), initiated during the previous 
year, primarily related to the Bank Merger Project;

In accordance with the defined organization of business processes and the competencies of the 
Operations Sector, the final organizational structure of the Operations Sector has been set up and the 
required number of employees within organizational units (departments) has been engaged. As at 31 
December 2023, Operations consists of 6 departments and a support, development and testing team, a 
total of 100 systematized workplaces. In accordance with the needs of business processes, during 2023, 
the Operations selected and hired a significant number of new employees, primarily in the departments 
responsible for credit and payment processes. In the conditions of a volatile labour market in the banking 
sector, with good cooperation with the Human Resources Management Sector, we can conclude that in 
2023, an adequate organizational structure was established, as well as the allocation of existing associates 
according to their qualifications and expertise; high-quality, professional and dedicated new employees 
were hired, which ultimately laid the foundations for a high level of productivity and a healthy and quality 
working atmosphere.

Although the process of migrating data and functions, within the Merger Project, was done successfully, in 
record time, led by experienced staff and with significant support from the IT part of the Bank, as well as 
any change of this kind, it required subsequent additional checks, analyses and corrections caused by the 
migration. As a key function of data processing for the largest number of the Bank’s business processes, 
responsible for a large number of data and functionalities, the Operations Sector has devoted significant 
time to analyses and corrections. In 2023, the Operations Sector implemented more than 90 activities 
of a technical nature, accompanied by a large number of individual so-called IT requirements. The same 
included the aforementioned data analyses and corrections, analyses and setting up the necessary 
functionalities, smaller or larger refinements and the introduction of new functionalities, all with the aim 
of adequate IT monitoring of business processes, etc.

As a sector with the primary function of the so-called back-end processing, support, control functions and 
as part of the Bank’s accounting system, in accordance with defined business processes, Operations should 
provide efficient, effective, fast service to internal and external clients, making sure that it is error-free, 
high-quality and compliant with regulations. In this regard, during 2023, the Operations Sector devoted 
significant time and efforts to adequately set up the work processes within individual departments, 
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change competencies between the departments of the Sector, but also changes to the processes 
harmonized with other organizational parts of the Bank. During the business year 2023, the Operations 
Sector implemented more than 50 major and minor changes, which can be characterized as, i.e., called, 
procedural changes. Certainly, the most important is the Centralization of the payment transactions 
processing, i.e., the takeover of this processing from the Bank’s branches to the central processing point 
in the Payment System Department of the Operations Sector. As a consequence, but also a prerequisite 
for procedural changes, and in itself a significant and large activity, during 2023, an analysis and update of 
more than 30 internal acts under the jurisdiction of the Operations Sector was carried out. 

Of course, each of the many other changes has led to further improvement of business processes, a 
higher level of quality of service of the Sector, as well as more efficient performance of work tasks. As 
one of the examples, the Bank processed for the first time in one month the volume of more than BAM 1 
billion in GC and RTGS payment orders in July 2023. Also, the number of processed retail loan applications 
in the Operations Sector has almost doubled from an average of 17 thousand during the Q1 2023, i.e., the 
monthly average of 31 thousand applications for the last quarter. 

ASA Banka is a licensed issuer of payment cards of both the world’s most famous card schemes - VISA 
and Mastercard. By merging, each of the two banks “brought” its own structure, level of licenses and 
contractual relations with the aforementioned card schemes to the successor bank. According to the 
rules of card organizations, during the Merger Projects, the necessary decisions were made and projects 
were initiated to unify the structure of the hierarchy of card licenses and the Bank’s rights with VISA and 
Mastercard. In itself, the complex structure of the hierarchy of the Bank’s card portfolio in the case of 
card schemes meant a longer duration of the projects of consolidating licenses, raising certain licenses 
in the Mastercard card scheme, establishing a settlement system, etc., and the same, as foreseen, lasted 
longer than the Merger Project itself. During 2023, as the primary carrier of activities and contact with card 
schemes, the Operations Sector successfully implemented the aforementioned activities and projects in 
card schemes. Certainly the most important is the completion of the project of unification of portfolios 
with Mastercard (the so-called “Portfolio sale”), the establishment of a system of direct settlement with 
Mastercard.  In addition to the above, mandatory changes have been made with VISA for the so-called 
transition to the 8-digit BIN, an adequate, expanded system of work through the principal bank (Sparkasse 
Bank BiH) for VISA cards has been established, a unified reporting system for work with two processing 
centers has been established, and costs have been analyzed and optimized (where possible) according 
to card schemes.

In order to further improve business processes and their efficiency, the Operations Sector prepared 
a plan and foundations for further activities and strategic commitment in 2023, primarily in the field 
of further automation of processing, the introduction of new IT solutions and trends (digitalization 
and robotization of processes), as well as a plan to support significant projects at the Bank level. In 
this context, an ambitious budget of further capital investments in software and technical solutions 
for the next 4 years in the amount of more than BAM 1.2 million is planned.



29ASA BANKA ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2023.

Projects, activities and achievements in 2023



30 ASA BANKA ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2023.

Projects, activities and achievements in 2023

i. Assets

The Bank maintained liquidity in accordance with the regulations of the FBiH Banking Agency  that 
regulate liquidity risk, and internal acts for maintaining liquidity reserves. Special attention is paid to 
liquidity measures prescribed by the requirements of the regulator through:

•	 Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), which is monitored and reported to the regulator on a monthly basis, 
and represents the ratio of liquidity coverage over a 30-day stress period 

•	 The maturity structure of financial assets and financial liabilities (4B) is maintained at levels above 
regulatory and internally defined limits. The maturity structure of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (4B) has been completely replaced by a new report with respect to the Net Stable Funding 
Ratio (NSFR). The NSFR ratio was fully maintained at levels above regulatory and internally defined 
limits throughout 2023.

In 2023, the Bank continued to contract long-term sources of funds on competitive terms and interest rates. 
With the aim of diversifying its deposit portfolio, the Bank has expanded its deposit base by concluding  
agreements on time-, savings- and avista funds with new corporate and retail clients, including the signing 
of a credit facility with the World Bank to support the financing of the corporate segment.

At the same time, the client base of users of “customer desk” services has been expanded, who are enabled 
to convert foreign currencies at preferential market rates, since events on the interbank foreign exchange 
market are monitored in real time. In addition to the above, the Bank has also concluded contracts with 
new authorized exchange offices, which has further improved this business segment.

Throughout 2003, the Assets Sector successfully managed foreign exchange risk at the level of individual 
currencies, and in the total amount for EUR and other currencies. All open foreign exchange positions 
were held within the limits prescribed by the Banking Agency of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina 
(FBA) as well as within the internally established limits.

With the introduction of custody operations, the Bank has expanded the range of services it offers on the 
capital market. Also, in 2023, clients with a significant portfolio were acquired, which the Bank takes care 
of and from which it generates additional income.

In 2023, the Bank continued to expand its network of correspondent banks abroad, while defining limits 
according to them for the purpose of performing FX (SPOT, FORWARD and SWAP) operations, MM (Money 
Market) term deposits, documentary operations, and foreign payment transactions.
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Responsibility for the financial statements 

The Management Board is responsible for ensuring that financial statements are prepared for each 
financial period in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, which provide a true and fair view of the financial position of 
ASA Bank d.d. Sarajevo (“the Bank”), as well as its operating results for that period, or in accordance with 
the legal accounting regulations applicable to banks in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina.

After making enquiries, the Management Board expects that the Bank has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the Management Board continues to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

In preparing those financial statements, the responsibilities of the Management Board include 
ensuring that:

•	 suitable accounting policies are selected and then applied consistently; 
•	 judgements and estimates are reasonable and prudent;
•	 applicable accounting standards are followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 

explained in the financial statements; and  
•	 the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the Bank will continue in business. 

The Management Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Bank and must also; ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Accounting and Audit Law in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina. 
The Management Board is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Signed on behalf of the Management Board

Samir Mustafić
          President of the Board 	      

ASA Banka d.d. Sarajevo
Trg međunarodnog prijateljstva 25, 71000 Sarajevo, 
Bosnia and Herzegovina, 19 February 2024

Edina Vuk
Member of the Board



33ASA BANKA ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2023.

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of ASA Banka d.d. Sarajevo

Opinion   
  
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of ASA Banka d.d. Sarajevo (the “Bank”), which 
comprise the balance sheet as of 31 December 2023, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Bank as at 31 December 2023 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Decision on Credit 
Risk Management and Determination of Expected Credit Losses, issued by the Banking Agency of the 
Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina.

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Bosnia and Herzegovina, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Estimate of impairment for loan losses and receivables from customers

For accounting policies, refer to Note Impairment of Financial Assets in Section 3 Basis of Presentation 
and Summary of Accounting Policies. For more information on the key audit matter, see Note Impairment 
Losses on Loans and Receivables in Section 4 Significant Accounting Estimates and Key Sources of 
Estimation Uncertainty.
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As of December 31, 2023, the gross book value of loans to customers amounted to 1,857,182 thousand KM. 
The corresponding provisions for impairment amounted to 84,626 thousand KM.
 
Credit risk is one of the most significant financial risks the Bank faces in its operations. Therefore, the 
determination of appropriate methods and models for measuring and managing credit risk by the 
Management represents one of the most important areas in preserving the Bank’s capital. As part of the 
credit risk management process, recognizing appropriate provisions for impairment for expected credit 
losses on loans to customers represents key considerations for the Bank’s Management.

In determining the timing and amount of impairment losses on expected credit losses on loans to 
customers, the Bank’s management uses statistical models and a certain level of judgment in the following 
areas:
•	 Use of historical data in the process of determining risk parameters;  
•	 Credit risk exposure assessment;
•	 Assessment of credit level risk assignment;
•	 Assessment of the significance of subsequent changes in credit risk in order to determine a significant 

increase of credit risk, which leads to changes in the levels of risks and the necessary measurement 
of expected credit losses over the lifetime cycle; 

•	 Expected future cash flows from operating activities;
•	 Valuation of collateral and estimation of realization period.

Since determination of appropriate impairment allowances for expected credit losses on loans and 
receivables requires use of complex models (generally dependent on IT elements) and significant 
judgement from the Management, process of measuring expected credit losses may be exposed to 
management bias. This fact led to the determination of impairment allowances for expected credit losses 
on loans and receivables from customers as key audit matter in our audit of the Bank’s financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

To address the risks associated with the recognition of impairment allowances for expected credit losses 
on financings and receivables, identified as key audit matters, we designed audit procedures that enabled 
us to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for our conclusion. We performed the following audit 
procedures in relation to the area of financing:

•	 Reviewing and verifying the Bank’s methodology for recognizing allowances for expected credit losses 
and comparing the reviewed methodology with the statutory accounting regulations applicable to 
banks in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina;
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•	 Gaining an understanding of the control environment and internal controls established by Management 
in the process of measuring allowances for expected credit losses, including the applications and 
tools used, and related internal controls;

•	 Assessing the design and testing the implementation of identified internal controls relevant to the 
process of measuring allowances for expected credit losses;

•	 Testing the operational effectiveness of identified relevant controls.

Performing substantive tests over recognition and measurement of impairment allowance for expected 
credit losses on sample of loans and receivables allocated to Stage 1 and Stage 2, focusing on:

•	 Models applied in stage allocation; 
•	 Assumptions used by the Management in the expected credit loss measurement models;
•	 Criteria used for determination of significant increase in credit risk;
•	 Assumptions applied to calculate lifetime probability of default;
•	 Methods applied to calculate loss given default;
•	 Methods applied for including data related to future events.

Performing substantive tests over recognition and measurement of impairment allowance for expected 
credit losses on sample of individually assessed non-performing loans and receivables allocated to Stage 
3, which included:

•	 Assessment of borrower’s financial position and performance following latest financial reports and 
available information;

•	 Critical assessment of judgements and assumptions applied in the calculation and measurement of 
expected future cash flows from operations taking into consideration borrower’s financial status and 
performance; 

•	 Reviewing and critically assessing estimated value of collateral and estimated realization period, 
discount rates used in the estimation of the expected cash flows from operations and/or collateral, re-
performing calculation of expected credit losses by applying our own judgment and assumptions on 
to calculation and comparing derived result of the impairment losses per certain sampled loans and 
receivables with the ones provided by the Bank.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. In accordance with Law on accounting and audit in 
Federation B&H, the other information comprises the Annual Report and corporate governance rules. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
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information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibility of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to 
continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements   

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error that are considered material 
if, individually or aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users, taken on the basis of those financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misinterpretations or the override of internal controls.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls.   

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the management.  

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
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our opinion. 
•	 Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 
•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal controls that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of the most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lejla Kaknjo..

BDO BH d.o.o.

Lejla Kaknjo,  
Partner and Certified Auditor

Sarajevo, 19 February 2024

Ezita Imamović, 
Certified Auditor
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Income statement for the year that ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise) Notes

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statement.

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

Fee and commission income 
Fee and commission expense  
Net fee and commission income

Other gains 
Other operating income 
Income from operating activities 

Employee expenses 
Depreciation expenses 
Other administrative expenses 
Operating expenses 

PROFIT BEFORE IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, 
PROVISIONS AND TAXATION 

Impairment losses and provisions, net

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 

Income tax 

Profit/(loss) as a result of decrease in deferred tax 
assets
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 

Earnings per share – basic and diluted (in BAM) 

Net profit 

Other comprehensive income: 

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or 
loss: 

Changes in the fair value of debt securities 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Notes 
5
6

7
8

9
10

11
23
12

13

14

14

15

20

86.398
(13.116)
73.282

39.894
(4.805)
35.089

9.227
4.396

121.994

(28.177)
(7.840)

(28.871)
(64.888)

57.106

(6.600)

50.506

(4.676)

175

46.005

14,66

46.005

(128)

45.877

2023. 2022.
30.352
(7.184)
23.168

18.022
(5.290)
12.732

13.771
664

50.335

(12.219)
(2.886)
(10.911)

(26.016)

24.319

(3.534)

20.785

(1.470)

(459)

18.856

17,32

18.856

194

19.050
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Balance sheet as at 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 

Obligatory reserve with Central bank B&H 

Loans and receivables at amortized cost 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets at FVTOCI 

Debt instruments at amortized cost 

Other assets and receivables, net 

Tangible and intangible assets 

Deferred tax assets  

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 

Due to banks   

Due to customers 

Subordinated debt 

Lease liabilities 

Other liabilities 

Provisions 

Total liabilities 

EQUITY 

Shareholders’ equity 

Reserves 

Revaluation reserves – financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income

Retained earnings 

Total equity 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

14

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

830.327

247.799

1.772.556

21.048

28.290

25.636

25.276

66.643

636

3.018.211

30.420

2.583.977

1.432

8.329

19.915

7.767

2.651.840

313.873

11.227

313.873

9.342

112

41.159

237

13.063

366.371

3.018.211

336.515

   
2.800.472

24.803

2.409.631

1.432

5.127

14.696

8.268

2.800.472

803.942

247.673

1.618.885

9.620

28.824

-

29.521

61.546

461

2.800.472

31. december 
2023.

31. december 
2022.     Note  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statement. 
Signed on behalf of Bank on 19 February 2024 

Samir Mustafić
President of the Board 

Edina Vuk
Member of the Board 
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Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 

Statement of cash flows  for the year ended on 31 December 2023
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

2023. 2022.

Operating activities 
Profit before taxation 
Adjustments: 
Depreciation 
Impairment losses and provisions, net 
(Increase)/ decrease in deferred tax assets, net 
Gains on disposal of property and equipment, net 
Effects of fair value adjustment on assets at fair value through profit and loss  
Interest income on financial assets through OCI recognized in profit and loss 
Interest income on financial assets at amortized cost recognized in profit and loss 
Losses/(gains) from sale of financial assets under FVOCI 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 
Increase in receivables from CBBiH 
Net increase in loans and receivables, before impairment 
Net decrease/(increase) in other assets, before impairment 
Net increase in due to customers 
Net increase in due to banks  
Net increase in other liabilities 
Net (decrease)/ increase in provisions and transfer from merger 
Income tax paid 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Investing activities 
(Purchase of)/proceeds from financial assets at amortized cost, net 
Proceeds from financial assets at FVOCI, net 
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL 
Dividends received 	
Purchase and transfer of tangible and intangible assets 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  
NET CASH USED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Financial activities 	  	  	  
Payment of lease liabilities 	
Dividend payment 		   	
Repurchase of treasury shares 		   	
Capital increase – merger process 
NET CASH (USED)/GENERATED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT THE END OF THE YEAR 

3.202
(16.024)

-
-

(12.822)
26.385

803.942
830.327

3.907
-

1.016
223.037
227.960
524.485
279.457
803.942

50.506

7.840
6.600
(175)

(5.109)
3.137
(470)
(955)

12

(126)
(156.716)

1.680
174.346

5.617
6.964

(3.044)
(4.676)

85.431

(24.975)
1.144

(15.647)
1.082

(13.457)
5.629

(46.224)

305.854

806
31.850
(8.238)

11
(43.755)

9.997
(9.329)

20.785

2.886
3.534

459
(4.908)

42
(468)

(8)
(32)

(155.112)
(1.058.421)

(17.874)
1.487.240

18.561
4.791
5.849

(1.470)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statement. 
 



42 ASA BANKA ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2023.

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 

Statement of changes in equity for year ended on 31 December 2023. 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Balance as on 31 December 2021.

Net profit 

Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive income 

Paid in capital – merger process 
(Note 35) 

Repurchase of treasury shares 

Transfer to the income statement based 
on maturity of debt securities 

Balance as on 31 December 2022. 

Net profit  

Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive income  

Profit distribution in accordance with the 
Assembly decision

Dividend payment 

Transfer to the income statement based 
on maturity of debt securities  

Balance as on 31 December 2023.

90.205

223.668

313.873 

313.873 

(2.192)

2.192 

9.342

9.342 

1.885 

11.227

112

194 

194

(69) 

237 

(128) 

(128) 

3

112

(3.986)

18.856

18.856

(631)

(1.176)

13.063

46.005

46.005

(1.885)

(16.024)

41.159

93.481

18.856

194

19.050

223.037

1.016

(69)

336.515

46.005

(128)

45.877

(16.024)

3

366.371

Shareholders’ 
equity 

Treasury 
shares 

Retained 
earnings Total Reserves 

Revaluation reserves for 
financial instruments at 
FVOSD  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statement.
Signed on behalf of Bank on 19 February 2024
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

1. GENERAL 
Under the name ASA Banka d.d. Sarajevo, with its registered office at Trg međunarodnog prijateljstva 
No. 25, Sarajevo, the Bank has been operating since September 30, 2016, after the registered status 
change of the merger Moja banka d.d. Sarajevo with Investment - Commercial Bank d.d. Zenica. 

Based on the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders on the status change - merger of 
Vakufska banka d.d. Sarajevo to ASA Banka d.d. Sarajevo, as of June 30, 2020, a new status change was 
formally registered as of December 13, 2021 in the Register of Companies of the Municipal Court in 
Sarajevo by Decision no. 065-0-Reg-21-004678. 

Based on the decision of the General Assembly of Shareholders on the status change - merger of 
ASA Banka Naša i Snažna d.d. Sarajevo to ASA Banka d.d. Sarajevo, as of August 31, 2022, a new status 
change was formally registered as of December 1, 2022 in the Register of Companies of the Municipal 
Court in Sarajevo by Decision no. 065-0-Reg22-004501. 

The Bank’s main operations are as follows: 

•	 accepting and placing of deposits or other funds with repayment liability; 
•	 granting and receiving of loans; 
•	 granting of guarantees; 
•	 services of local and international payments according to regulation; 
•	 foreign exchange transactions and buying of precious metals; 
•	 issuing and managing with payment instruments (including cards, travellers and banking 

cheques); 
•	 financial lease; 
•	 buy, sale and collection of receivables (factoring, forfeiting, etc.); 
•	 participation, buying and selling of money market instruments on its own benefit and on 

behalf of third parties; 
•	 securities transactions (brokerage-dealers transaction); 
•	 managing od securities portfolio and other valuable items; 
•	 support to securities markets, agent transactions, support to issues of securities according 

to regulation;  
•	 investing consultancy services and custody accounts; 
•	 financial advisory and consultancy services; 
•	 collecting data services, providing analysis and information about creditworthiness of legal 

entities and entrepreneurs; 
•	 renting of vaults; 
•	 agency services in insurance transactions according to regulation except for car liability 

insurance; 
•	 other, which represent support to bank main activities. 
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Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Supervisory board and Management board 

Supervisory board 

Samir Redžepović
Sead Aganspahić
Ibrahim Fazlić
Dženan Prevljak
Arif Brkić
Kemal Kozarić

Management   

Samir Mustafić
Edina Vuk
Davor Tomić
Aldijana Rakić 
Hasan Hasić

President (new term starting from July 1, 2023) 
Member (new term starting from July 1, 2023) 
Member (new term starting from July 1, 2023) 
Member (new term starting from July 1, 2023) 
Non-executive member (new term starting from July 1, 2023) 
Non-executive member (new term starting from July 1, 2023) 

President of the Board (new engagement started from December 1, 2022) 
Member of the Management Board (new engagement started from December 1, 2022)  
Member of the Management Board (new engagement started from December 1, 2022) 
Member of the Management Board (new engagement started from December 1, 2022) 
Member of the Management Board (from April 1, 2023) 

2.    	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS 
 
2.1	 Standards and Interpretation effective in the current period

The following standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board are effective for the current period: 

•	 IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” - IFRS 17 creates one accounting model for all insurance contracts in 
all jurisdictions applying IFRS (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023); 

•	 IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Disclosure of Accounting Policies, i.e., Amendments to 
IAS 1 and IFRS Statement of Practice 2 Making Materiality Judgements (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023); 

•	 IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” - Definition of Accounting 
Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023); 

•	 IAS 12 “Income Taxes” - Deferred tax on assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction, i.e., 
amendments to IAS 12 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023); 

•	 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules - amendments to IAS 12 (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023); 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

2.2   Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 
 

At the date of these financial statements, the following standards, amendments to existing standards 
and interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective: 

•	 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases) - (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2024);  

•	 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements) - (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024);  

•	 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements) 
- (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024);  

•	 Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures) - (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024);  

•	 	Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates) 
- (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

The Bank has chosen not to adopt these standards, amendments and interpretations before they become 
effective. The Bank anticipates that the adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations 
will not have a material impact on the Bank’s financial statements in the period of initial application.

3.  BASIS FOR PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. In accordance with Article 
42 of the Law on Accounting and Auditing of the Federation of BiH, legal entities are required to prepare 
a Business Report that provides an objective overview of the legal entity’s operations and position, 
including a description of the main risks and uncertainties faced by the legal entity.  

With regard to local regulatory requirements, the Bank’s governing bodies also received and reviewed 
information related to the assessment of the effectiveness of the Bank’s control functions, including the 
adequacy of the process. The Management Board and the Supervisory Board confirmed the correctness 
of the activities performed by these functions. The Bank’s governing bodies, by adopting operational 
reports and reports of independent external auditors, confirmed the activities of the Management Board 
and assessed them as compliant with laws, internal documents, decisions, policies, procedures and 
programs. The Bank’s Supervisory Board performed and implemented all necessary activities through 
its sub-committees, which held their regular meetings during the year and informed the Supervisory 
Board about its activities in a timely manner.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Going concern 

The financial statements are prepared on the assumption of the going concern concept, which implies 
that the Bank will continue its business activities in the foreseeable future and be able to realize assets 
and settle liabilities in the normal course of business. 

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Historical cost is generally 
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets. Fair value is the price that 
would be received for sale or be paid for the transfer of duties in a regular transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using other valuation techniques. In estimating the fair value of assets or liabilities, the Bank 
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which would be taken into account by 
market participants when determining the price of the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair 
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such 
basis, except for measurements that have some similarities to fair value, but are not affair value, such 
as value in use in IAS 36. 

In addition to financial reporting, fair value indicators are classified at levels 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the evaluation of the fair value can be seen and of the importance of evaluating the 
fair value in a whole, as follows: 

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (uncorrected) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the Bank may access on the measurement date; fair value indicators are those derived from quoted 
prices in active markets 

•	 Level 2 inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

•	 Level 3 inputs are not observable inputs for the asset or liability. 

The financial statements are presented in convertible marks (BAM), since that is the currency in which the 
majority of the Bank’s business events is expressed. Convertible Mark is officially tied to the euro (EUR 1 
= BAM 1.95583). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported and disclosed amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in 
the period in which the estimates are changed, and eventually in future periods, if they have an impact 
on them. 

Information on areas with significant uncertainty in the estimates and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements, are disclosed in Note 4. Accounting policies, stated below, are adequately adopted and 
implemented for all periods presented in these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expenses are recognized in the income statement for the accounting period to 
which it relates using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or liability over the expected life of the 
financial instrument (or, if appropriate, a shorter period) to its book value. Interest income is calculated 
on the gross book value of the financial instrument for Stage 1 and Stage 2, while for Stage 3 the Bank 
calculates interest on the net amortised amount of the financial instrument. 

For the POCI assets, interest income is calculated using the adjusted effective interest rate on the net 
amortised amount. 

Calculation of the effective interest rate includes all paid or received transaction costs, fees and points, 
which are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include all incremental costs 
incurred directly in connection with the issuance or acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities. 

Fee and commission income and expense 

Fees and commissions consist mainly of fees earned on domestic and foreign payment transactions, 
and fees for loans and other credit instruments issued by the Bank. Fees for payment transactions are 
recognized in the period when services are rendered.  
 
Taxation   

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax expense 
is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from net income as reported in the 
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting period date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period when the liability is settled or the asset realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the 
income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case 
the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Bank has the ability and intention 
to settle on a net basis. 

Cash and cash equivalents  

For the purpose of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash, balances with 
the Central bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina (“CBBH”), current accounts with other banks and cash at 
hand. 
Cash and cash equivalents exclude the compulsory minimum reserve with CBBH, as these funds are 
not available for the Bank’s day to day operations. The compulsory minimum reserve with CBBH is a 
required reserve to be held by all commercial banks licensed in Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

Financial instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when an entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments, i.e., when funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts, or when funds 
from balances due to customers are transferred to the Bank. 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms 
and the business model for managing the instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
initially measured at fair value, except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 
FVPL. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) 
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition. 

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities, except commitments and contingencies, are measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through profit and loss. 
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Financial assets at amortised cost 

Bank measures financial assets at amortised costs using the effective interest method, if both of the 
following conditions are met: 
a)	 the financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows. 
b)	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 
The details of these conditions are outlined below. 

Business model assessment  

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial 
assets to achieve its business objective. The Bank’s business model is not assessed on management’s 
intentions for an individual instrument. Thus, this condition is not assessed on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios. However, a single entity may have more 
than one business model for managing its financial instruments. 

An entity’s business model refers to how an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate 
cash flows. That is, the entity’s business model determines whether the cash flows will result from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both.

Consequently, this assessment is performed on the basis of scenarios that the entity does not 
reasonably expect to occur, such as so-called “worst case” or “stress case” scenarios. For example, if an 
entity expects that it will sell a particular portfolio of financial assets only in a stress case scenario, that 
scenario would not affect the entity’s assessment of the business model for those assets if the entity 
reasonably expects that such a scenario will not occur.

If cash flows are not realised in a way that is different from the entity’s expectations at the date that the 
entity assessed the business model (for example, if the entity sells more or fewer financial assets than 
it expected when it classified the assets), that does not give rise to a prior period error in the entity’s 
financial statements nor does it change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that 
business model (i.e. those assets that the entity recognised in prior periods and still holds) as long as 
the entity considered all relevant information that was available at the time that it made the business 
model assessment.

However, when an entity assesses the business model for newly originated or newly purchased financial 
assets, it must consider information about how cash flows were realised in the past, along with all other 
relevant information.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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The SPPI test 
 
As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial to 
identify whether they meet the SPPI test. For the purpose of this test, definitions of principal and interest 
are presented below: 
a)    principal is fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition.   
b)   interest is consisted of consideration for the time value of money, for credit risk associated with 
outstanding amount of principal over a certain period of time and other basic risks and borrowing costs, 
as well as a profit margin. 

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

The Bank applies the new category under IFRS 9 of debt instruments measured at FVTOCI when both 
of the following conditions are met: 
a)     the financial assets are held within a business model, which objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.  
b)    contractual terms of a financial asset arise, on a specific date, cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising due to 
changes in fair value of instrument should be presented in other comprehensive income until the 
financial assets are derecognised or their reclassification in other categories of financial assets. 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at 
amortised cost. 

Upon initial recognition, the Bank can make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive 
income subsequent changes in the fair value of particular investments in equity instrument that is not 
held for trading and it is not contingent consideration granted in a business combination within the 
scope of IFRSI 3. Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recognized through profit or 
loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss as other operating income when the right of the payment 
has been established. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Financial assets should be measured at fair value through profit and loss unless it is measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. However, the Bank may make an 
irrevocable election for certain investments in equity instruments, that should be measured at fair value 
through profit and loss, to reflect fair value adjustments in other comprehensive income.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Impairment of financial assets  

Recognition of expected credit losses  

The Bank recognizes provisions for the impairment of expected credit losses of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income, lease receivables, 
contractual assets or lease obligations and a financial guarantee contract. 

The Bank is required to apply impairment requirements for the recognition and measurement of 
provisions for financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. However, 
impairment provisions should be recognized in other comprehensive income and may not reduce the 
carrying amount of financial assets in the balance sheet. 

At each reporting date, the Bank is required to measure impairment provisions for a financial instrument 
in the amount equal to the duration of expected loan losses if the credit risk for that financial instrument 
has increased significantly from initial recognition.
 
Lifetime expected credit losses (LTECL) are credit losses arising from all possible unfulfilled obligations 
during the expected life of a financial instrument. 12-month expected credit losses (12m ECL) are a 
portion of the lifetime expected credit losses that represent the expected credit losses that result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

According to the impairment methodology updated in accordance with the requirements of the 
Decision on credit risk management and determination of expected credit losses, the Bank has defined 
the minimum criteria for measuring expected credit losses described below. 

In accordance with the schedule of exposures to credit risk levels, the Bank is required to apply the 
following minimum rates for expected credit losses: 

1.           Level 1: if the Bank does not have an adequate time series, and/or quantity or quality of historical 
relevant data and is unable to determine a value of PD parameter using its model in an adequate and 
documented manner, the Bank cannot determine expected credit losses for other exposures which are 
allocated to the credit level risk 1 less than 1 % of the exposure.

2.          Level 2: For exposure allocated to credit risk level 2, the Bank is required to determine and record 
expected credit losses in the amount greater than two:

a) 8% exposures, 
b) amount determined in accordance with internal methodology of the Bank. 
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3.        Level 3: The minimum rates of expected credit losses allocated to Level 3 depend on 
the fact that the exposure is secured by acceptable collateral or not, and accordingly the 
minimum rates are as follows:

a)        exposures secured by acceptable collateral: 

Ordinal number 
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Ordinal number 
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Ordinal number
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Day of delay  
from 180 days 	
from 181 to 270 days 
from 271 to 365 days
from 366 to 730 days
from 731 to 1460 days
over 1460 days 	

Day of delay
from 180 days
from 181 do 270 days
from 271 do 365 days
from 366 do 456 days
over 465 days

Day of delay 
No delay in materially significant amount 
from 30 days
from 31 to 60 days
from 61 to 90 days
from 91 to 120 days
from 121 to 180 days
from 181 to 365 days
over 365 days

Minimum expected 
credit loss

0,5%
2%
5%

10%
15%
50%
75%

100%

Minimum expected credit loss
15%
25%
40%
60%
80%
100%

Minimum expected credit loss
15%
45%
75%
85%

100%

b)       exposures not secured by acceptable collateral: 

Minimum rates of expected credit losses for trade receivables, factoring and financial leasing 
receivables, and other receivables, are applied according to the table as follows: 
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Parameters of credit risk  

Credit loss for exposures on individual basis is determined as positive differences between gross carrying 
amount of exposures and the estimated future cash flows (from operating income and/or realization 
of collateral) during expected useful life of the financial asset item, discounted at the effective interest 
rate which is valid at the reporting date. The Bank may use a number of different scenarios (from 
operating income and/or realization of collateral) when assessing certainty of future cash flows with a 
probability of their realization. 

The Bank determine expected credit loss for exposures on group basis in accordance with the following 
general formula: 

ECL=PD x LGD x EaD

Probability of default status (PD parameter) 

The Bank determined the value of PD parameter on the basis on defined segments of credit exposures 
or PD of homogeneous group, which are appropriately (in accordance with its internal methodology) 
assigned the value of the PD parameter. The PD parameter for homogeneous group is estimated as 
the ratio of the number of placements at which default status occurred during the observation period 
(historical data for 3 years) and the total number of placements that were not in default at the beginning 
of the observed period. 

Loss given default (LGD parameter) 

Loss given default (LGD parameter) represents the banks internal estimate of the level of expected 
loss related to exposure in the event of default status. LGD parameter is also calculated at the level 
of the relevant homogenous group, based on historical data on collections from collateral or other 
sources after the occurrence of default status for identified homogenous groups for a period of a least 
recent five years. If the Bank does not have adequate time series, and/or quantity or quality of historical 
relevant data, and is unable to determine a value of PD parameter using its model in an adequate 
and documented manner, then the Bank uses fixed values of this parameter based on conservative 
estimates, which cannot be lower than: 

a.	 45% for exposures secured by acceptable collateral, 
b.	 75% for exposures not secured by acceptable collateral. 

As of 31 December 2022, Bank used fixed parameters in percentage of 45% and 75% due to completion 
of two mergers and data migration. 
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Derecognition of financial assets  

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have 
expired. The Bank also derecognises the financial asset in the case of transfers of financial assets that 
meet the definition of derecognition: 

•	 The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receipts cash flows from the financial asset.
•	 The Bank retains the rights to the cash flows from financial assets, but has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows to one or more recipients. 

When the bank transfers the financial assets, it is obliged to assess the extent to which it retains the 
risks and the benefit of the financial asset. In this case: 

•	 If Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, it is obliged to derecognize 
the financial assets and recognize separately like assets or liabilities all rights and obligations that 
are incurred or retained by transfer.

•	 If Bank has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, it is obliged to continue to 
recognize the financial assets.

•	 If Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and the benefits of the financial 
assets, it is obliged to determine whether it has retained control over financial assets. In this case:

(i)  if Bank has not retained the control, it is obliged to derecognize the financial assets and recognize 
separately like assets or liabilities all rights and obligations that are incurred or retained by transfer. 
(ii)  if the Company retained the control, it is obliged to continue to recognize the financial assets in the 
amount of its part in financial assets. 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Bank. 

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

Equity instruments  

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recorded at the amount of 
received funds, less then direct issue costs. 

Financial guarantee contract liabilities  

Financial guarantee contract liabilities initially are measured at their fair values and are subsequently 
measured at the higher of:  
•      the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: “Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; or   
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•  the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in 
accordance with the revenue recognition policies set out at above. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities “at fair value through profit or loss”, or 
“other financial liabilities”.  

Other financial liabilities  

Other financial liabilities, including liabilities to banks, customers and subordinated debt, are initially 
recognized at fair value less transaction costs. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.  

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Bank derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. 

Leases

The Bank assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Bank 
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements 
in which it is the lessee, expect for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. For these leases, 
the Bank recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate.  

At the commencement date, the lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability 
comprise the following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that 
are not paid at the commencement date: 
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(a)	 fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 
(b)	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date; 
(c)	 amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
(d)	 the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option and 
(e)	 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising 
an option to terminate the lease.

The Bank adjusts the value of the lease liability determined by remeasurement and recognises it as an 
adjustment to the right-use of asset using the effective interest method. The cost of the right-of-use 
asset shall comprise the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs 
incurred by the lessee. Asset with the right-of-use is subsequently measure at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are initially stated at procurement cost less impairment losses and accumulated 
impairment losses. Procurement cost includes the purchase price and directly associated cost of 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. The costs of ongoing maintenance and 
repairs, replacement and investment maintenance of a smaller scale are recognized as an expense 
when incurred.  

Assets under construction, built for the purpose of providing services or for administrative purposes, 
are stated at cost less any impairment loss. The cost of procurement includes professional fees, and, 
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy. Such 
assets are reclassified to appropriate categories of property and equipment after being completed and 
ready for intended use.  

Depreciation is charged from the moment the asset is ready for its intended use. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the applicable assets. Estimated 
useful lives were as follows: 

The gain and loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is recognized in the statement of 
profit and loss in the period they occur. 

Buildings 
Furniture and vehicles 
Computers and other 

2023.
1,5% 

10% to 15%
10% -20%

2022.
1,5% 

10% to 15%
10% -20%
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Impairment 

At each reporting period date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than it’s carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an 
expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is land or building other than investment property 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior years.  

Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as revaluation increase. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives using rate of 14.3% to 33.33% annually. 

Assets classified as held for sale  

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if it’s carrying amount will be largely compensated by 
selling rather than by constant use. This requirement is met only if the sale is highly probable and the 
assets available for sale in the current state. Management must be decisive in sales, which should be 
determined for recognition as a complete sale within one year from the date of classification. 

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at a lower of the carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. 
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Employee benefits  

On behalf of its employees, the Bank pays personal income tax and contributions for pension, disability, 
health and unemployment insurance, on and from salaries, which are calculated as per the set legal 
rates during the course of the year on the gross salary. The Bank pays the tax and contributions in the 
favour of the institutions of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (on federal and cantonal levels). 

In addition, meal allowances, transport allowances and vacation bonuses are paid in accordance with 
the local legislation. These expenses are recognized in the income statement in the period in which 
the salary expense is incurred.

Foreign currency translation  

Transactions in currencies other than Bosnia and Herzegovina BAM are initially recorded at the rates 
of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
at the rates prevailing on the reporting period date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 
value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. Profits and losses arising on translation are included in the income statement for the year. 
The Bank values its assets and liabilities by intermediate rate of CBBH valid at the date of balance 
sheet, which approximates market rates.

The principal rates of exchange set forth by CBBH and used in the preparation of the Bank’s balance 
sheet at the reporting dates were as follows: 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Bank will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at the reporting period date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, it carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. Provisions are released 
only for such expenditure in respect of which provisions are recognized at inception. If the outflow of 
economic benefits to settle the obligations is no longer probable, the provision is reversed. 

31. december 2023.
31. december 2022.

1 EUR = 1,95583 BAM
1 EUR = 1,95583 BAM

1 USD  = 1,769982 BAM
1 USD  = 1,833705 BAM

1 CHF = 2,112127 BAM
1 CHF = 1,986219 BAM
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Borrowing costs  

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended 
use or sale, are included in the cost of procurement of assets, until the assets are substantially ready for 
its intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are charged to the statement of income in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

Equity and reserves Share 

capital

Share capital includes paid ordinary and preference shares and is expressed in BAM at nominal value. 

Revaluation reserve for investments 

Revaluation reserve for investments comprises changes in fair value of financial assets through other 
comprehensive income. 

Earnings per share 

The Bank publishes basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data.  

The basic earnings per share are allocated to the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.  

During 2023 and 2022 there were no dilution effects. 

If the number of ordinary or potential ordinary shares increases as a result of capitalization, free issue or 
division of shares, or if the number decreases as a result of activities contrary to division of shares, the 
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all periods is adjusted retroactively. 

If these changes occur after the statement of financial position date but before the financial statements 
are issued, the calculation of the amount per share for those financial statements and the statement of 
any prior period is based on the new number of shares. 

4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Bank’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.  
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty  

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the legal accounting regulations applicable 
to the banks in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina requires the Management to make judgments, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and related assumptions are regularly 
reviewed. Changes in accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are 
changed and, if applicable, in future periods if they affect them. Information about areas with significant 
uncertainty in estimates and critical judgments in the application of accounting policies, which have the 
most significant impact on the amounts disclosed in these financial statements, is disclosed in Note 3. 

Assumptions of the Management Board regarding the adoption of the going concern principle

The bank makes estimates and assumptions about uncertain events, including estimates and judgments 
about the future. Such accounting assumptions and estimates are regularly reviewed and are based 
on historical experience and other factors such as the expected course of future events that can be 
realistically assumed under existing circumstances, but nonetheless inevitably represent sources of 
uncertainty in estimates. 

The estimation of impairment of the client financing portfolio of the Bank is the most significant source 
of uncertainty in estimates. These and other key sources of uncertainty in estimates, which pose a 
significant risk of causing material discrepancies in the book value of assets and liabilities in the next 
financial year, are described below. 

Useful lives of property and equipment  

As described in Note 3 above, the Bank reviews the estimated useful lives of property and equipment 
at the end of each annual reporting period.  

Impairment losses on loans and receivables 

As described in Note 3 above, at each reporting period date, the Bank assessed indicators for impairment of 
loans and receivables and their impact on the estimated future cash flows from the loans and receivables. 

Impairment losses on loans and receivables and provisions for off-balance exposure  

The Bank monitors the creditworthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis. The need for impairment 
of the Bank’s on-and off-balance credit risk exposures is assessed on a monthly basis. Impairment 
losses are made mainly against the carrying value of loans to corporate and retail customers and as 
provisions for liabilities and charges arising from off-balance-sheet risk exposure to customers, mainly 
in the form of unused loan facilities and guarantees. Impairment losses are also considered for credit risk 
exposures to banks and for other assets not carried at fair value, where the primary risk of impairment 
is not credit risk.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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With regard to the financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Bank first assesses whether objective 
evidence of impairment exists individually for assets that are individually significant and collectively for 
assets that are not individually significant. In assessing collective impairment, the following guidelines 
are used: 

•	 future cash flows of a homogeneous segment/product group are estimated based on historical 
losses for assets with similar credit risk characteristics; 

•	 criteria for assessing a significant increase in credit risk and measurement of losses on LTECL basis; 
•	 information on historical loss rates is applied consistently to defined homogeneous segments/

groups; 
•	 historical losses are adjusted in line with current data which can be used consistently with the 

current conditions; 
•	 methodology and assumptions used to estimate future cash flows are regularly revised and updated 

as necessary. 

As explained further below, the Bank calculates provisions under FBA rules, as well as estimating 
impairment allowances under IFRS. 

During the year 2023, there were no changes in Internal impairment methodology according to IFRS.

Fair value of financial instruments and derivatives 

As described in Note 34, the Management use their judgment in selecting an appropriate valuation 
technique for financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly 
used by market practitioners are applied. Financial instruments are valued using a discounted cash 
flow analysis based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable market prices or rates. 
The estimation of fair value of unlisted shares includes some assumptions not supported by observable 
market prices or rates. 

5.   INTEREST INCOME  
Interest on retail loans 
Interest on corporate loans 
Interest income from banks 
Debt instruments at amortized cost (Note 21) 
Financial assets at fair value through OCI (Note 20) 
Factoring income 

38.855
35.735
10.355

955
470

28
86.398

2023. 2022.
16.732
12.816

321
8

468
7

30.352

6.   INTEREST EXPENSES 
Interest on retail deposits 
Interest on corporate deposits 
Interest on subordinated debt 
Other interest expenses 

6.605
6.234

181
96

13.116

2023. 2022.
2.972
2.937

90
1.185

7.184
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7.   FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 

10.  OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

8.   FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE 

9.   OTHER GAINS 

Fees from services rendered 
Payment operations fees 
Fees on issued guarantees 

Income from suspended interest 
Other income 

Payment transactions fees 
Other fees to banks 

Gains on sale of property, equipment and assets available for 
sale (Note 22 and 23) 
Foreign exchange differences, net 
Collected written-off receivables 
Income from dividends 
Income from rented premises or equipment 
Sale of bonds - financial assets 
at FVTOCI 
Fair value adjustment – financial assets 
at FVPL (Note 19) 

25.159
11.520

3.215
39.894

1.629
2.767

4.396

2.272
2.533

4.805

   
5.109
3.918
2.056
1.082

187

12

(3.137)
9.227

11.055
6.033

934
18.022

40
624
664

3.798
1.492

5.290

4.908
2.919
5.109

11
834

32

(42)
13.771

11.   PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
Net salaries 
Tax and contributions 
Other 

The average number of personnel employed by the Bank on 31 December 2023 and 2022 was 678 
and 347 respectfully.  

13.161
9.681
5.335

28.177

6.201
3.855
2.163

12.219

2023.

2023.

2023.

2022.

2022.

2022.

2023.

2023.

2022.

2022.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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12.  OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

13.   IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND PROVISIONS 

14.   INCOME TAX 

Services 
Insurance 
Equipment and building maintenance 
Marketing and representation 
Telecommunication services 
Energy 
Tax expenses 
Rent 
Material expenses 
Donations 
Membership fees 
Supervisory Board fees 
Utilities 
Services contracts 
Penalties 
Other 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Obligatory reserves at Central Bank 
Loans to customers 
Financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets at amortized cost 
Other assets 
Impairment of acquired assets 
Loans to customers 
Provisions for commitments and contingencies 
Provisions for employee benefits 
Other provisions 

Current income tax 
Total tax 

Total income tax recognised in income statement may be presented as follows: 

16
  17
18
20
21
22
22
29
29
29
29

8.838
5.354
5.310
1.582
1.446
1.089
1.002

842
716
616
263
185
159
143

7
1.319

28.871

(119)
-

3.046
16

294
777
43

125
(264)

-
2.682

6.600

4.676
4.676

     Note 

3.156
713

2.175
576
555
606
460
214
377
697
214
88

104
59
13

904
10.911

139
22

4.545
(69)

-
(1.239)

176
(369)

38
468

(177)
3.534

1.470
1.470

2023. 2022.

2023. 2022.

2023. 2022.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Profit / (loss) before income tax 
Income tax expense, at the statutory rate of 10% 
Effects of non-deductible expenses 
Effects of non-taxable income 
Decrease in tax liability based on carry-forward losses and incentives 
Current income tax 
Effective income tax rate 

Current account with the Central Bank of BH 
Current accounts with other banks Cash in hand in 
domestic currency 
Cash in hand in foreign currency 
Term-deposits on accounts with other banks* 

Balance on 1 January 
Newly recognized tax assets /used deferred tax assets 
Transfer from merger 
Balance as on 31 December 

Net result (in BAM thousands) 
Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of basic earnings 
per share 
Basic earnings per share (in BAM) 

50.506
5.051

604
(541)
(438)

4.676
9,26%

Stage 1
516.728
23.889
61.312

27.990
200.291
830.210

Total 
516.728
24.006
61.312

27.990
200.291
830.327

Stage 2
-

117
-
-
-

117

Stage 3
-
-
-
-
-
-

461
175

-
636

46.005

3.138.735
14,66

18.856

1.088.440
17,32

20.785
2.079

146
(700)

(55)
1.470

7,07%

90
(459)

830
461

2023.

2023.

2023.

31. december 2023.

2022.

2022.

2022.

Adjustment between income tax presented in tax balance and accounting income tax is presented as follows: 

Changes in deferred tax asset can be presented as follows: 

*Term-deposits on accounts with other banks in the gross amount of BAM 200,492 thousand relate to 
seven termdeposit agreements as follows:  

•	 Intesa SanPaolo SPA Milano, one agreement/1 MM placement in the amount of EUR 37 million, 
with an interest rate of 3.89% p.a. and final maturity on 3 January 2024;  

15.   PROFIT PER SHARE 

16.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Changes in gross carrying amount are presented below: 

•	 Commerzbank AG Frankfurt am Main, three agreements/3 MM placements in the total amount 
of EUR 26,5 million, with an interest rates from 3.55% to 3.71% p.a and final maturity on 3 January 
2024, 30 January 2024 and 28 March 2024; and one agreement/1 MM placement in the amount of 
CHF 3,5 million with an interest rate of 0.80% p.a. and final maturity on 3 January 2024;  

•	 Unicredit Bank Austria AG, one agreement/1MM placement in the amount of EUR 22,2 million, 
with an interest rate of 3.35% p.a., and final maturity on 3 January 2024, and one agreement/1 MM 
placement in the amount of USD 14,5 million, with an interest rate of 5.25% p.a. and final maturity 
on 3 January 2024. 

Current account with the Central Bank of B&H 
Current accounts with other banks 
Cash in hand in domestic currency 
Cash in hand in foreign currency 
Term-deposits on accounts with other banks 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 
Acquired financial assets 
Derecognition or proceeds from collection  
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 
As on 31 December 2023

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 
Acquired financial assets 
Transfer from merger 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 
As on 31 December 2022

Stage 1
586.222
50.064
60.711
48.721
58.214

803.932

Stage 1
804.662

26.445
-
-

(117)
-

830.990

Stage 1
279.727
196.227

328.708
-
-
-

804.662

Total
586.222
50.074
60.711
48.721
58.214

803.942

Total
804.869

26.445
(180)

-
-
-

831.134

Total
279.727
196.227
328.915

-
-
-

804.869

Stage 2
-

10
-
-
-

10

Stage 2
10

-
-
-

117
-

127

Stage 2
-
-

10
-
-
-

10

Stage 3
-
-
-
-
-
-

Stage 3
197

-
(180)

-
-
-

17

Stage 3
-
-

197
-
-
-

197

31. december 2022.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
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Changes in impairments are presented below: :

Impairments as on 1 January 2023 
Impairment (Note 13) 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 
As on 31 December 2023

Impairments as on 1 January 2022 
Impairment (Note 13) 
Transfer from merger 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 
As on 31 December 2022

Obligatory reserve with CBBH 
Less: value adjustment 

Stage 1
728

52
-
-
-

780

Stage 1
270
139
319

-
-
-

728

31. december 2023.
248.047

(248)
247.799

31. december 2022.
247.921

(248)
247.673

Stage 2
1
9
-
-
-

10

Stage 2
-
-
1
-
-
-
1

Stage 3
197

(180)
-
-
-

17

Stage 3
-
-

197
-
-
-

197

Total
926
(119)

-
-
-

807

Total
270
139
517

-
-
-

926

17. OBLIGATORY RESERVE WITH THE CENTRAL BANK OF 
BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA 

Changes in impairments are presented below: 

Impairments as on 1 January 2023 
Impairment (Note 13) 
Transfer from merger 
As on 31 December 2023 

Stage 1
248

-
-

248

Stage 2
-
-
-
-

Stage 3
-
-
-
-

Total
248

-
-

248

The basis for the calculation of obligatory reserves consists of deposits and borrowed funds, regardless 
of the currency in which they are denominated. Also, a single required reserve rate of 10% has been 
established, which the CBBH applies to the base for calculating required reserves.   

The CBBH does not charge a fee on the amount of mandatory reserve funds, based on funds in domestic 
currency, on mandatory reserve funds based on the base in foreign currencies and in domestic currency 
with a currency clause - it charges a fee at the rate applied by the European Central Bank to deposits of 
commercial banks (Deposit Facility Rate) reduced by 10 basis points. On the amount of funds above the 
mandatory reserve, CBBH calculates compensation at the rate applied by the European Central Bank to 
commercial bank deposits (Deposit Facility Rate). 
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Short - term loans:  
(including current portion of long-term loans)  
Corporate 
Retail 

Long - term loans:  
(excluding current portion of long-term loans) 
Corporate 
Retail 
Total loans before allowance for impairment

Less: Allowance for impairment losses based on individual assessment 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses based on collective assessment

328.988
30.187

359.175

733.402
764.605

1.498.007
1.857.182

(22.836)
(61.790)

1.772.556

(34.949)
(55.800)

1.618.885

325.126
28.762

353.888

625.381
730.365

1.355.746
1.709.634

18.   LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 

31. december 
2023.

31. december 
2022.

Below is the overview of loans given to customers by segment and level of credit risk:

31. december 2023. 

Loans to individuals 

Housing loan 

Other loans to individuals 

Loans to corporate 

Revolving loans 

Investment loans 

Other loans to corporate

Less: Impairment 

Stage 1

Collective 
assessment

235.985

494.778

730.763

211.075

247.506

488.979

947.560

(17.518)

1.660.805

Stage 2

Collective  
assessment

4.136

11.549

15.685

19.226

29.041

44.670

92.937

(10.691)

97.931

Stage 3

Individually  
assessment

4.493

979

5.472

3.798

2.638

21.039

27.475

(22.836)

10.111

Stage3

Collective 
assessment

3

35.408

35.411

292

19

1.568

1.879

(33.581)

3.709

Stage3

Total

244.617

542.714

787.331

234.391

279.204

556.256

1.069.851

(84.626)

1.772.556

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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31. december 2022. 

Loans to individuals 

Housing loan 

Other loans to individuals 

Loans to corporate 

Revolving loans 

Investment loans 

Other loans to corporate 

Less: Impairment 

Stage 1

Collective  
assessment

105.848

592.639

698.487

215.511

192.429

439.095

847.035

(16.626)

1.528.896

Stage 2

Collective  
assessment

1.589

21.361

22.950

8.153

29.655

19.788

57.596

(10.176)

70.370

Stage3

Individually  
assessment

1.597

3.721

5.318

3.662

2.789

37.144

43.595

(34.949)

13.964

Stage3

Collective  
assessment

20

32.352

32.372

328

33

1.920

2.281

(28.998)

5.655

Stage3

Total

109.054

650.073

759.127

227.654

224.906

497.947

950.507

(90.749)

1.618.885

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 

Acquired assets 

Derecognition or proceeds from collection (excluding write off) 

Transfer to Stage 1

Transfer to Stage 2

Transfer to Stage 3

Write off 

At 31 December 2023 

Stage 1

1.545.522

865.461

(684.064)

12.163

(51.901)

(8.858)

-

1.678.323

Stage 2

80.546

36.866

(42.573)

(11.743)

53.166

(7.640)

-

108.622

Stage 3

83.566

1.334

(20.307)

(420)

(1.265)

16.498

(9.169)

70.237

Total

1.709.634

903.661

(746.944)

-

-

-

(9.169)

1.857.182

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 

Acquired assets  

Transfer from merger 

Derecognition or proceeds from collection (excluding write off) 

Transfer to Stage 1

Transfer to Stage 2

Transfer to Stage 3

Write off 

At 31 December 2022 

Stage 1

543.297

404.531

903.576

(293.892)

3.401

(12.109)

(3.282)

-

1.545.522

Stage 2

15.138

3.610

64.901

(6.058)

(3.360)

12.234

(5.919)

-

80.546

Stage 3

58.463

1.099

39.160

(3.843)

(41)

(125)

9.201

(20.348)

83.566

Total

616.898

409.240

1.007.637

(303.793)

-

-

-

(20.348)

1.709.634

Changes in gross carrying amount for loans are shown below: 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Impairments as at 1 January 2023 

Impairment (Note 13) 

Transfer to Stage 1 

Transfer to Stage 2 

Transfer to Stage 3 

Write off 

At 31 December 2023 

Stage 1

16.626

11.603

143

(5.292)

(5.562)

-

17.518

Stage 2

10.176

(1.021)

(138)

5.400

(3.726)

-

10.691

Stage 3

63.947

(7.536)

(5)

(108)

9.288

(9.169)

56.417

Total

90.749

3.046

-

-

-

(9.169)

84.626

Impairments as at 1 January 2022 

Transfer from merger 

Impairment (Note 13) 

Transfer to Stage 1 

Transfer to Stage 2 

Transfer to Stage 3 

Write off 

At 31 December 2022 

Stage 1

4.758

17.828

(1.815)

46

(2.141)

(2.050)

-

16.626

Stage 2

1.051

5.836

4.736

(45)

2.153

(3.555)

-

10.176

Stage 3

46.080

30.999

1.625

(1)

(12)

5.605

(20.348)

63.947

Total

51.889

54.663

4.545

-

-

-

(20.348)

90.749

Weighted average interest rate can be presented as follows: 

An overview of the average parameters used to calculate the impairment can be shown as follows: 

Ana Analysis of loans before allowance for impairment losses by industry: 

Corporate 
Retail 

31. december 2023.
Corporate 
Retail 
31. december 2022.
Corporate 
Retail 

Citizens 
Trade 
Agriculture, forestry, mining and industry 
Construction industry 
Services, finance, sport and tourism 
Transport and communications 
Governmental institutions, NGO’s and other 

804.078
316.905
320.029
168.565
168.712
46.303
32.590

1.857.182

759.127
326.530
305.367
126.002
107.216
43.576
41.816

1.709.634

Average PD
0,083
0,014

0,088
0,015

Average LGD
0,57
0,66

0,51
0,66

3,70%
5,01%

3,70%
5,60%

31. december 
2023.

31. december 
2022.

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.
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Reprograms and restructuring
 
Restructuring measures include a “concession” to the debtor as a result of the deterioration in the 
economic and financial position of the client and the impossibility of repaying the debt under the initially 
agreed terms. The “concession” may be change in terms of the original contract (annex) or a new contract 
(refinancing). Restructuring of the liabilities aims to enable the client to repay the obligations according to 
his real possibilities, with the provision of more efficient and secure collection of the Bank’s receivables. 
According to this, restructuring of the liabilities represents a change in the terms and conditions agreed 
in the moment of loan approving (e.g., extension of repayment deadlines, reduction of interest rates, etc.). 
Decision on restructuring of the liabilities make authorized body of the Bank. Restructured exposures can 
be identified both in the non-performing and performing parts of the portfolio. 

31. december

2023.
Corporate 

Retail 

31. december 

2022.
Corporate 

Retail 

Number of 
reprogramed 

4
259
263

11
109
120

297
4.633
4.930

9.835
3.282

13.117

-
755
755

-
16
16

138
1.143
1.281

-
-
-

159
2.735
2.894

9.835
3.266

13.101

Gross credit Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3

Syndicated loans 

As at December 31, 2023, the bank had 2 syndicated loans (2022: 2 syndicated loans) together with other 
banks. On this basis, the participation of other banks as at December 31, 2023 was in the amount of BAM 
20,141 thousand. (2022: from BAM 47,153 thousand). The bank bears the risk only for its participation in 
the syndication. 

19.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS 

Equity instruments: 
Shares of private companies 
Shares of public companies 
Shares of banks 
Shares of non-banking financial institutions 

11.359
5.606
4.082

1
21.048

95
5.467
4.045

13
9.620

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Balance at the beginning of the year 
New assets (purchased) 
Sale of acquired real estate 
(Losses) from fair value adjustments (Note 9) 
Balance at the end of the year 

9.620
14.576

(11)
(3.137)

21.048

1.424
9.238

(1.000)
(42)

9.620

2023. 2022.

Movements in fair value of assets through profit and loss were as follows: 

20.   FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Debt securities: 

Ministry of Finance RS 
JP Autoceste FBIH Mostar 
Ministry of Finance FBiH 
Accrued interest 
Sub-total 

Equity instruments: 

Bamcard d.d. Sarajevo
Sarajevo Stock exchange d.d. Sarajevo 
Securities’ Register of FBiH 
Bank Association 
Sub-total

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 
Derecognition or proceeds from collection (excluding write 
off) 
Interest (Note 5) 
Unrealised profit from fair value adjustment, net 

At 31 December 2023 

28.824
-

(876)
470

(128)

28.290

-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

-

28.824
-

(876)
470

(128)

28.290

Investment in funds: 
Open investment fund “Lilium Global” Sarajevo 

16.527
4.955
3.783

328
25.593

2.060
103

51
9

2.223

474
28.290

581
28.824

16.855
5.008
3.837

329
26.029

2.051
103

51
9

2.214

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Changes in gross carrying amount are presented below: 

Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3 Total
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Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022. 
New financial assets (purchased) 
Transfer from merger 
Derecognition or proceeds from collection (excluding write off) 
Interest (Note 5) 
Unrealised profit from fair value adjustment, net 
 
At 31 December 2022

61.419
5.458

10.027
(48.742)

468
194

28.824

61.419
5.458

10.027
(48.742)

468
194

28.824

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3 Total

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 

21.  DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTISED COST 

Debt securities: 
Bonds of foreign companies (OLMA Industries LP) 
Ministry of Finance of FBiH 
Treasury securities (Naša Banka a.d. Banja Luka) 
Accrued interest 
Impairment 

14.473
10.705

495
257

(294)
25.636

-
-
-
-
-
-

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Changes in debt instruments at amortized cost are presented below: 

Changes in gross carrying amount are presented below: 

Balance at beginning of the year 
New financial assets (purchased) 
Interest (Note 5) 
Decrease, net 
Balance at end of the year 

-
24.681

955
-

25.636

798
-

8
(790)

-

2023. 2022.

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 
New financial assets (purchased) 
Interest (Note 5) 

At 31 December 2023 

-
24.681

955

25.636

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-

-
24.681

955

25.636

Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3 Total

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 
Derecognition or proceeds from collection (excluding write off) 
Interest (Note 5) 

At 31 December 2022 

798
(790)

(8)

-

798
(790)

(8)

-

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-

Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3 Total

Changes in impairments are presented below: 

Impairments as at 1 January 2023 
Impairment (Note 13) 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 
At 31 December 2023 

-
294

-
-
-

294

-
294

-
-
-

294

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3 Total

22. OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES, NET 

Receivables from BH Pošta based on the foreign 
exchange Contract 
Receivables from banks 
Receivables from government institutions 
Receivables from Moneygram 
Prepaid expenses 
Acquired tangible assets 
Inventory and other office supplies 
Prepaid income tax 
Other

Less: Impairment of value 

7.549
3.295
2.973
1.399
1.361

252
216

-
10.200
27.245
(1.969)
25.276

4.824
7.838

137
6.023
1.773
648
874

16
8.537

30.670
(1.149)
29.521

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Changes in impairment are presented below: 

Changes in acquired assets are presented below: 

Balance as of January 1, 2022 
Sale / (purchase) of acquired real estate 
Collection of credit receivables through acquisition of real estate 
Transfer from merger 
Impairment of acquired real estate (Note 13) 
Balance as of December 31, 2022 
Sale / (purchase) of acquired real estate 
Collection of credit receivables through acquisition of real estate 
Impairment of acquired real estate (Note 13) 
Balance as of December 31, 2023 

1.260
(997)

497
64

(176)
648

(405)
52

(43)
252

1.116
(228)

-
-
-

(228)
4.852

-
-

4.624

Book 
value

Net gains 
from sales

Balance as of January 1 
Transfer from merger 
Impairment (Note 13)  
Balance as of December 31  

1.149
-

820
1.969

1.695
517

(1.063)
1.149

2023. 2022.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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23.     TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 ACQUISITION VALUE 

As of December 31, 2021 

Additions 

Transfer from merger 

Transfer (to) / from 

Reclassification 

Disposals 

At 31 December 2022 

Additions 

Transfer (from) / to 

Reclassification 

Disposals

At 31 December 2023 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 

At 31 December 2021 

Depreciation 

Transfer from merger 

Disposals 

Reclassification 

At 31 December 2022 

Depreciation 

Disposals 

At 31 December 2023 

NET BOOK VALUE 

At 31 December 2023 

At 31 December 2022 

22.298

202

2.631

14.906

(1.994)

(5.134)

32.909

1

(44)

(398)

32.468

3.322

445

972

(851)

(879)

3.009

502

(126)

3.385

29.083

29.900

5.844

18.465

297

(1.970)

22.636

635

(1.252)

22.019

4.781

602

14.616

(2.175)

17.824

1.532

(1.252)

18.104

3.915

4.812

2.755

16.934

409

(1.558)

18.540

6.816

(10.071)

15.285

1.578

1.084

11.817

(849)

13.630 

3.046

(9.563)

7.113

8.172 

4.910 

2.578

7.513

320

(192)

10.219

231

10.450

1.196

280

5.711

(187)

7.000

779

7.779

2.671

3.219

966 

(92) 

874

(28)

846 

442 

119

(20)

541 

105

(28)

618

228

333

1.047

17.121

70

(16.070)

(50)

2.118

6.641

(3.931)

4.828

4.828

2.118

12.723

145

18.260

138

(976)

30.290

316

955

(177)

31.384

11.126

356

14.924

(801)

25.605

1.548

(165)

26.988

4.396

4.685

10.454

1.944

12.448

2.109

14.557

879

879

328

1.207

13.350

11.569

48.211

17.468

74.327

(9.972)

130.034

13.773

(44)

(11.926)

131.837

22.445

2.886

48.040

(4.883)

68.488

7.840

(11.134)

65.194

66.643

61.546

Buildings
and land 
lease 

Assets 
under
(IFRS 16) Vehicles

Computers
and other
equipment

Investments
in subsidiaries

Leasehold
improvments

Investments
property Total

Intangible
assets

The cost of fully written off tangible and intangible assets in use as at 31 December 2023 amounts to BAM 39,616 thousand (2022: BAM 37,900 
thousand). 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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24.     DUE TO BANKS 

25.     DUE TO CUSTOMERS 

Assets under lease in accordance with IFRS 16 „Leases“ are presented below: 

Net book value at 31 December 2023 (BAM 000) 
Addition investment in assets with right of use (BAM 000) 
Depreciation rate 
Number of lease agreement 
Period of right of use 

8.172
6.816

10%  - 100%
81

from 1 to 10 years

Property

Deposits: 
Demand deposits 
Fixed-term deposits 

Demand deposits: 
Retail: 
In domestic currency 
In foreign currencies 

Corporate: 
In domestic currency 
In foreign currencies 

Deposits from NGOs, cantonal government, 
municipalities etc.: 
In domestic currency 
In foreign currencies 

Fixed-term deposits: 
Retail: 
In domestic currency 
In foreign currencies 

165.126
221.976
387.102

156.522
284.927
441.449

366.704
144.386
511.090

333.053
40.837

373.890

779.864
39.405

819.269
1.704.249

311.064
108.588
419.652

287.212
43.242

330.454

692.324
44.529

736.853
1.486.959

5.945
24.475

30.420

14.004
10.799

24.803

31. december 2023.

31. december 2023.

31. december 2022.

31. december 2022.
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Corporate: 
In domestic currency 
In foreign currencies 

Deposits from NGOs, cantonal government, 
municipalities etc.: 
In domestic currency 
In foreign currencies 

128.511
3.173

131.684

114.901
13.025

127.926

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

304.178
56.764

360.942
879.728

2.583.977

290.234
63.063

353.297
922.672

2.409.631

26.     SUBORDINATED DEBT 

Interest rate during the year is presented below: 

Demand deposits in KM and foreign currencies 
Fixed-term deposits of legal entities 
Fixed-term deposits of private individuals 

0%-1,95%
0% - 3,00%
0% - 5,00%

1.089
343

1.432

1.089
343

1.432

0%-0,10%
0,36% - 1,53%
0,13% - 1,77%

2023. 2022.

Vlada Hercegovačko – neretvanskog Kantona
Medžlis IZ Mostar

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

The Bank has funds in the amount of BAM 1,089 thousand as at 31 December 2023. The funds received 
from the Government of HNK are for the purpose of further crediting and financing the development of 
agriculture and improving employment. These funds are recognized as additional capital, according to 
FBA regulations. 

The amount of BAM 343 thousand as of December 31, 2023, represents the Bank’s funds received from 
the Foundation “Bošnjaci”, Mostar for the purpose of further lending and financing. These assets are also 
recognized as supplementary capital. 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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27.    LIABILITIES FOR LEASE 

Long term liabilities 
Short term liabilities 

Maturity analysis: 
Within one year 
In the second year 
In the third year 
In the fourth year 
In the fifth year 
After five years 

5.546
2.783
8.329

2.783
1.997
1.641
1.241
608

59
8.329

2.597
2.530
5.127

2.530
1.225

775
482

88
27

5.127

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Lease agreements have been signed for periods of 1 to 10 years. The Bank used an incremental
borrowing rate of 0.25% to 3.10% per annum. 

28.   OTHER LIABILITIES 

29.   PROVISIONS 

Liabilities for suppliers 
Liabilities for income tax 
Liabilities for undistributed inflows 
Card operations 
Liabilities for inactive accounts 
Liabilities from managed funds (Note 31) 
Other 

5.417
2.931
1.324
1.041

363
75

8.764
19.915

4.705
-

1.097
1.821
473
120

6.480
14.696

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Provisions for legal proceedings 
Provisions for commitments and contingencies 
Provisions for employee benefits 
Other provisions 

1.821
1.403

572
3.971
7.767

1.891
1.667

712
3.998
8.268

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Unused approved loans 
Performance guarantees 
Payment guarantees 
Letters of credit 

125.106
109.916
54.638

82
289.742

132.005
112.805
52.795

39
297.644

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Commitments and contingencies  

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into credit related commitments which are recorded 
in off-balance sheet accounts and primarily include guarantees and undrawn commitments. 

Changes in gross carrying amount are presented below: 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 
New financial liabilities 
Derecognition or payment of liabilities (excluding write off) 
Increase in exposure under existing contracts 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 

At 31 December 2023 

293.281
186.949

(202.238)
8.727

102
(379)

(19)

286.423

3.791
727

(1.579)
40

(101)
383

-

3.261

572
1

(531)
2

(1)
(4)
19

58

297.644
187.677

(204.348)
8.769

-
-
-

289.742

Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3 Total

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 
New financial liabilities 
Transfer from merger 
Derecognition or payment of liabilities (excluding write off) 
Increase in exposure under existing contracts 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 

At 31 December 2022 

71.470
72.479

215.718
(79.689)

14.700
73

(1.391)
(79)

293.281

71.588
72.899

218.453
(80.416)

15.120
-
-
-

297.644

104
309

2.678
(676)

109
(72)

1.391
(52)

3.791

14
111
57

(51)
311
(1)

-
131

572

Stage  1 Stage  2 Stage  3 Total

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)
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Changes in impairment are presented below: 

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Impairments as at 1 January 2023 
Impairment (Note 13) 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 

At 31 December 2023 

Impairments as at 1 January 2022 
Impairment (Note 13) 
Transfer from merger 
Transfer to Stage 1 
Transfer to Stage 2 
Transfer to Stage 3 

At 31 December 2022 

Balance as of 1 January 2022 
Increase / (decrease) (Note 13) 
Transfer from merger 
Adjustments - reclassification 
Payments 

Balance as of 31 December 2022 
Increase / (decrease) (Note 13)
Payments 

Balance as of 31 December 2023 

503
(369)
1.453

304
-

1.891
125

(195)

1.821

564
38

1.065
-
-

1.667
(264)

-

1.403

1.028
468
550

(304)
(1.030)

712
-

(140)

572

364
(177)
3.811

-
-

3.998
2.682

(2.709)

3.971

2.459
(40)

6.879
-

(1.030)

8.268
2.543

(3.044)

7.767

1.244
(58)

54
(10)

-

1.230

548
(360)

982
181
(73)
(34)

1.244

177
16

(52)
12
(1)

152

5
226

67
(181)

73
(13)

177

246
(222)

(2)
(2)

1

21

11
172
16

-
-

47

246

1.667
(264)

-
-
-

1.403

564
38

1.065
-
-
-

1.667

Stage  1

Stage  1

Court
proceeding

Commitments
and

contingencies

Employee
benefits

Other
provisions Total

Stage  2

Stage  2

Stage  3

Stage  3

Total

Total

Changes in provisions are presented below: 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Ordinary shares: 

ASA Finance d.d. Sarajevo  
ZIF “prevent INVEST” d.d. Sarajevo  
Nermina Čago  
Validus d.d. Varaždin – in bankruptcy  
MahmalInvestment Co. Limited, GB  
Almy d.o.o. Zenica  
ZIF “PROF-PLUS” d.d. Sarajevo  
Privredna Banka Sarajevo d.d.  
Muhamed Čeliković  
OIF Lilium Global  
Other shareholders  

Subtotal:

Preference shares:  
Urban Katharina
Subtotal:

TOTAL:

‘000 KM
279.650

7.548
1.846
1.776
1.775
1.403
1.010

957
909
905

15.966

313.745

128
128

313.873

ownership of %
89,13%
2,40%
0,59%
0,57%
0,57%
0,45%
0,32%
0,31%
0,29%
0,29%
5,08%

100,00%

-
-

100,00%

‘000 KM
279.650

7.548
1.825
1.780
1.775
1.403
1.010

957
909
905

15.983

313.745

128
128

313.873

ownership of %
89,13%
2,40%
0,58%
0,57%
0,57%
0,45%
0,32%
0,31%
0,29%
0,29%
5,09%

100,00%

-
-

100,00%

30.  SHARE CAPITAL 

The share capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2023 consists of 3,137,454 ordinary shares and 1,281 
preference shares with a nominal value of BAM 100 (2022: 3,137,454 ordinary shares and 1,281 preference 
shares with a nominal value of BAM 100). 

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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31. MANAGED FUNDS 

The funds for which the Bank acts as commissioner for and of behalf of third party are not Bank’s assets 
and therefore are not the part of financial statements. Analysis of managed funds is presented as follows: 

PLACEMENTS 
Corporate 
Retail 

SOURCES: 
Zenica - Doboj Canton 
Sarajevo Canton 
Others 

Current obligations due to Managed funds (Note 28) 

12.638
2.732

15.370

6.294
1.503
7.648

15.445
75

10.337
4.622

14.959

5.522
4.292
5.265

15.079
120

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

In accordance with the signed commission agreements with the Government of Zenica-Doboj Canton, 
the Government of Sarajevo Canton and other partners, the Bank had placed BAM 12,638 thousand of 
loans to legal entities and BAM 2,732 thousand to individuals, in order to invest in housing for third parties, 
employment promotion and agricultural development. In accordance with the above agreements, the 
Bank was obliged to place these funds to third parties. 
The owners of the sources of funds bear the risk of collecting them. 

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

In accordance with the requirements of the International Accounting Standard 24 “Related Party 
Disclosures” A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements: 
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that person: 
(i)	 has control or joint control of the reporting entity; 
(ii)	 has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 
(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the 
reporting entity. (b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 
(i)	 The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 
(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 
(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.  
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Employees  
Shareholders and  
related parties 

Loans 

10.040

103.091
113.131

Loans 

12.375

82.886
95.261

Total

10.958

105.345
116.303

Total

13.544

82.982
96.526

Off-balance 
sheet exposure 

918

2.254
3.172

Off-balance 
sheet exposure 

1.169

96
1.265

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring 
employers are also related to the reporting entity. 
(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). 
(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 
(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity. 
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 balance outstanding with related parties comprised: 

All transaction that are presented below are done by commercial and banking conditions: 

Remuneration to the Management Board and the Supervisory Board 

The remuneration of directors and other key management personnel during the year ended 31 December 
2023 may be presented as follows: 

Compensation for Chairman and members of the Board 
Taxes and contributions and other compensations 

1.443
820

2.263

1.544
899

2.443

2023. 2022.

33.  RISK MANAGEMENT 

a)         Capital risk managements 
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of 
balance sheets, are:  
•	 To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets;  
•	 To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide 

returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; 
•	 To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.  

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

The Bank expects to maintain its debt to capital ratio. Solvency indicators were as follows:  

Debt is defined as liabilities toward clients, other banks and financial institutions presented in detail in 
Notes 24, 25, 26 and 27. Capital includes share capital and accumulated losses. 

Regulatory capital of the Bank includes core and supplementary capital. Core capital of bank (totally equal 
to ordinary share capital) includes paid shares, premium on share, accumulated retained earnings and 
other reserves formed from earn after tax based on decision of Bank Assembly, net revaluation reserves 
by change of fair value of assets (accumulated comprehensive income), impaired by amount of treasury 
stocks, intangible assets and deferred tax assets. Supplementary capital consists of subordinated debt. 

The prescribed minimum capital rates are as follows: 
•	 rate of regular core capital 6.75%  
•	 rate of core capital 9% 
•	 rate of regulatory capital 12% 
In addition to the regulatory minimum rates of adequacy, Bank also has to provide capital conservation 
buffer that needs to be in form of regular basis capital in amount of 2.5% of the total amount of risk 
exposure. 

The total weighted risk used to calculate capital adequacy includes: 
•	 risk- weighted assets and credit equivalents, 
•	 positional, currency, commodity risk, and 
•	 operational risk.

One of the basic processes that the Bank implements in the context of strategic risk management is 
the internal capital adequacy assessment process (“ICAAP”). The main objective of this process is to 
determine the positive level of capital that is sufficient to cover all risks that the Bank is exposed to and 
that are assessed as material. 

ICAAP serves as an internal capital adequacy assessment tool in relation to the risk profile of the Bank 
and the implementation of the Bank’s strategy appropriate to maintaining an adequate level of internal 
capital. 

Debt 
Capital  

Net debt to capital ratio 

2.624.158
366.315

7,16

2.440.993
336.515

7,25

31. december 2023. 31. december 2022.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
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At 31 December 2023, the rates and levels of capital were as follows: 

Table that is presented below shows structure of capital and capital indicators at 31 December 2023 and 2022: 

The rate of core capital 
The rate of regulatory capital 
The rate of core capital including adjustments from Pillar 2 
The rate of core capital including adjustments from Pillar 2 
The rate of regulatory capital including adjustments from Pillar 2 

17,75%
17,84%
8,50%
10,75%
13,75%

Regulatory capital 
Core capital 
Regular core capital 
Paid equity instruments 
Actual or contingent liabilities of purchase of own capital 
instruments 
Share premium 
Retained earnings 
Profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent company 
Other comprehensive income – revaluation reserves 
Other reserves 

Deductions from regular core capital 
Intangible assets 
Deferred tax assets 
Instruments of regular core capital of financial sector entities if 
the Bank has a significant investment
Total regular core capital 
Supplementary core capital 
Core capital 

Supplementary capital 
Subordinated debt 
Total regulatory capital 
Total risk-weighted assets (unaudited) 
Rate of core capital 
Rate of regulatory capital 

1.560
315.213

1.767.052
17,75%
17,84%

1.560
299.606

1.634.942
18,23%
18,33%

315.213
313.653
313.653
313.746

-
-

(4.964)
-

119
11.227

(3.955)
(460)

(2.060)
313.653

313.653

(4.833)
(461)

(2.051)
299.606

299.606

299.606
298.046
298.046
313.746

-
27.773

1.401
-

(676)
(36.853)

31. december
 2022.

31. december
 2023.

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Capital adjustment plan 

As of 31 December 2023, the ratio “tangible assets/core capital” amounted to 19.98% (31 December 2022: 
20.98%). According to the Law on Banks, total bank’s investments into tangible assets may not exceed 
40% of the core capital. Bank is obliged to ensure and maintain financial leverage rate, as additional 
security and simple capital protection, in minimum of 6%.  The bank’s financial leverage rate is ratio of 
core capital and amount of total bank exposure on reporting date, expressed as a percentage. Financial 
leverage ratio at 31 December 2023 amounts to 9.93% (31 December 2022: 10.04%). 

d)	 Financial risk management objectives 

The Bank’s Risk department provides services to the business, monitors and manages the financial risks 
relating to the operations of the Bank through internal risk reports, which analyse exposures by degree 
and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk and fair value interest rate 
risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.  

b)	 Significant accounting policies 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, 
the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognized, in respect 
of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 3 to the 
financial statements. 

c) 	 Categories of financial instruments 

Financial assets 
Loans and receivables: 
Cash and cash equivalents (including Obligatory reserves with the CBBH) 
Loans to clients and receivables, net 
Financial assets at FVTPL                    
Financial assets at FVTOCI 
Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities 
At amortised cost: 
Borrowings and liabilities to banks 
Subordinated debt 
Due to customers 
Lease obligations 

2.850.682
1.078.126
1.772.556

21.048
28.290
25.636

2.925.656

30.420
1.432

2.583.977
8.329

2.624.158

2.670.500
1.051.615
1.618.885

9.620
28.824

-
2.708.944

24.803
1.432

2.409.631
5.127

2.440.993

31. december
 2022.

31. december
 2023.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

e) 	 Market risk   

The Bank’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates and interest rates (see below points f and g). 
Market risk exposures are supplemented by sensitivity analysis. There has been no change to the Bank’s 
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.   

f) 	 Foreign currency risk management 

The Bank undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The carrying amounts of 
the Bank’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date 
are as follows: 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis  

The Bank is mainly exposed to EUR, USD and CHF. Since Convertible Mark (BAM) is pegged to EUR, the 
Bank is not exposed to risk of change of EUR exchange rate. 

As at 31 December 2023 
ASSETS 
Cash and balances with other banks 
Obligatory reserves with the CBBH 
Loans to customers, net 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
Financial asset at FVTOCI 
Debt instruments at amortised cost 
Other receivables 

Total

LIABILITIES 
Due to other banks and financial institutions 
Amounts due to customers 
Other financial liabilities 

Total

As at 31 December 2022 
Total monetary assets 
Total monetary liabilities 

575.888
247.799

1.770.396
9.782

28.290
11.163

24.439

2.667.757

6.953
2.073.715

14.673

2.095.341

2.561.684
1.872.014

123.061
534.467

30.131
29.990

10.069
9.918

2.684
2.801

2.727.629
2.449.190

16.938
477.757

1.969

496.664

6.403
21.464

345

28.212

-
8.953

2

8.955

126
2.089

2

2.217

30.420
2.583.978

16.991

2.631.389

215.706
-

2.160
11.266

-
14.473

1.912

245.517

27.561
-
-
-
-
-

658

28.219

8.979
-
-
-
-
-
-

8.979

2.193
-
-
-
-
-

11

2.204

830.327
247.799

1.772.556
21.048
28.290
25.636
27.020

2.952.676

TotalBAM EUR USD CHF Other

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

The following table details the Bank’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in BAM against 
USD and CHF, 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in USD. A positive number 
below indicates an increase in profit where BAM strengthens 10% against USD. For a 10% weakening of 
BAM against USD and CHF, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit, and the balances 
below would be negative. 

31. december
 2022.

31. december
 2022.

31. december
 2023.

31. december
 2023.

Profit/(loss) 1 14 2 15

USD Effect CHF EEffect 

g)	 Interest rate risk management 

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as the Bank places and borrows funds at both fixed and floating 
interest rates. The risk is managed by the Bank by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and 
floating rate borrowings.  
The Bank’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the 
liquidity risk management section of this note (see point i).   

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for financial 
instruments at the reporting period date. The analysis is prepared assuming the number of financial 
instruments outstanding at the reporting period date was outstanding for the whole year. A 200-basis 
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 

If interest rates had been 200 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
Bank’ net result for the year ended 31 December 2023 would decrease / increase by BAM 5,999 thousand 
(2022: BAM 5,657 thousand – used 50-basis point according to the then current methodology). 

h)	  Credit risk management 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Bank, The Bank has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties 
and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 
from defaults.   
The Bank’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the 
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure 
is continuously monitored and managed in accordance with the Bank’s internally defined procedures 
within a defined risk appetite framework that is reported and monitored through established Bank Boards. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2023 
(all amounts are presented in thousands of BAM, unless stated otherwise)

Total gross 

carrying 

amount

Unimpaired 
assets

Individually 
impairment 

assets

Individual 
impairment 

allowance

Collective 
impairment 

allowance

Total net 
carrying 
amount

The Bank does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any company 
of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Bank defines counterparties as having similar 
characteristics if they are related entities. 

Except stated below in table, the carrying amount of financial asset presented in financial statements, 
decreased for losses based on impairments, represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. 
 
 

Financial assets 

As of 31 December, 2023 
Cash and balances with other banks 
Obligatory reserves with the CBBH 
Loans to customers and receivables at 
amortised cost 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
Financial assets at FVTOCI 
Debt instruments at amortised cost 

As of 31 December, 2022 
Cash and balances with other banks 
Obligatory reserves with the CBBH 
Loans to customers and receivables 
at amortised cost 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
Financial assets at FVTOCI 

831.134
248.047

1.857.182

21.048
28.377
25.930

3.011.718

804.869
247.921

1.709.634

9.620
28.824

2.800.868

109.432
-

40.124

9.620
2.795

161.971

695.437
247.921

1.669.510

-
26.029

2.638.897

(197)
-

(34.949)

-
-

(35.146)

(729)
(248)

(55.800)

-
-

(56.777)

803.942
247.673

1.618.885

9.620
28.824

2.708.944

89.823
-

56.241

21.048
2.223

-
169.335

741.311
248.047

1.800.941

-
26.154
25.930

2.842.383

8(790)
(248)

(61.790)

-
(87)

(294)
(63.209)

(17)
-

(22.836)

-
-
-

(22.853)

830.327
247.799

1.772.556

21.048
28.290
25.636

2.925.656

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Credit exposure and collateral 

As at 31 December 2023  
Cash and balances with other banks  	
Obligatory reserves with the CBBH  	
Loans to customers and receivables at amortised cost  
Financial assets at FVTPL  	  
Financial assets at FVTOCI  	  
Debt instruments at amortised cost  
 

As at 31 December 2022  
Cash and balances with other banks  
Obligatory reserves with the CBBH  
Loans to customers and receivables at amortised cost  
Financial assets at FVTPL  
Financial assets at FVTOCI  

Real estate 
Deposits 
Equipment 
Warranties/Guarantees 

Total

1.102.414
68.976
17.403
17.890

1.206.683

986.358
66.115

20.836
17.605

1.090.914

Credit risk exposure 	

830.327
247.799

1.772.556
21.048
28.290
25.636

2.925.656

803.942
247.673

1.618.885
9.620

28.824
2.708.944

-
-

289.742
-
-
-

289.742

-
-

297.644
-
-

297.644

-
-

1.206.683
-
-
-

1.206.683

-
-

1.090.914
-
-

1.090.914

Net 
exposure 

Loan 
commitments 

/ Guarantees 

Fair value of  
collateral 

Fair value of the collaterals 

Arrears 
 

31. december
 2022.

31. december
 2023.

Total gross 
loans to 

Up to 
30 days 

31 to 90 
days   

91 to 180
days  

181 to 270
days

Over
270 days  

Not due 

31. december 2023.
Corporate 
Retail 
Total 

1.062.389
794.793

1.857.182

964.532
688.378

1.652.910

69.160
68.086

137.246

2.327
5.567
7.894

3.585
2.848
6.433

344
3.168
3.512

22.441
26.746
49.187
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31. december 2023.
Non- interest bearing 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 
Fixed interest rate  
instruments 

31. december 2022.
Non- interest bearing 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 
Fixed interest rate 
instruments

	
-

4,83%

4,36%

-

2,11%

5,00%

	
661.499

37.944

523.207
1.222.650

280.461

793.438

127.894
1.201.793

	
-

21.487

97.194
118.681

-

18.368

97.492
115.860

	
-

86.481

373.235
459.716

-

122.429

273.145
395.574

	
-

246.000

553.215
799.215

-

276.344

423.956
700.300

	
-

150.478

210.967
361.445

-

197.072

141.943
339.015

	
661.499

542.390

1.757.818
2.961.707

280.461

1.407.651

1.064.430
2.752.542

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

Less than 1 

month  

1 to 3 

months 

1 to 5 

years  
5+ years    Total

From 3 
months to 

1 year  

Arrears
Total gross 

loans to   
Up to 

30 days
31 to 90 

days     
91 to 180

days  
181 to 270

days  
Over

270 days
Not due

31 December 2022 
Corporate 
Retail 
Total 

950.507
759.127

1.709.634

819.427
638.453

1.457.880

64.002
56.027

120.029

30.750
38.031
68.781

832
3.426
4.258

1.085
2.416
3.501

34.411
20.774
55.185

i)	 Liquidity risk management 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Management Board, which has built 
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Bank’s short, medium 
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Bank manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves and other financing sources, by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

Liquidity and interest risk tables 

The following table details the Bank’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial asset. 
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets 
including interest that will be earned on those assets. 

Maturity of financial 
assets 

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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The following table details the Bank’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Bank can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and 
principal cash flows. 

The Bank expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows and proceeds of maturing 
financial asset.

Maturity for financial 
liabilities 

31 December 2023 
Non- interest bearing 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 
Fixed interest rate 
instruments 

31 December 2022 
Non- interest bearing 
Variable interest rate 
instruments 
Fixed interest rate 
instruments 

	
-

1,31%

1,23%

-

0,03%

1,22%

	
1.531.262

1.312

275.011
1.807.585

1.521.522

7.742

61.896
1.591.160

	
568

-

110.567
111.135

8.624

4.580

68.166
81.370

	
5.784

-

316.051
321.835

41.802

61.608

195.635
299.045

	
4.629

-

390.252
394.881

63.785

62.787

356.148
482.720

	
4.820

-

7.153
11.973

8.100

518

6.775
15.393

	
1.547.063

1.312

1.099.034
2.647.410

1.643.833

137.235

688.620
2.469.688

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

Less than 1 

month  

1 to 3 

months 

1 to 5 

years  

5+ years    TotalFrom 3 
months to 

1 year  
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1)   Financial assets as at 

FVTPL (see Note19) 

2)   Financial assets as at 

FVTOCI  

Equity securities listed on the stock 

exchange in Bosnia and Herzegovina:

Shares and stakes in private and 

state-owned  companies, banks and 

non-banking financial – 

BAM 21,048 thousand 

 

Equity securities listed on the stock 

exchange in Bosnia and Herzegovina:

Shares of private and state companies, 

banks and non-banking financial 

institutions – BAM 2,223 thousand  

Investment fund shares: 

Open-end investment funds - BAM 

474 thousand 

Debt securities listed on the stock 

exchange in Bosnia and Herzegovina: 

• Bonds issued by the Federation of 

BiH – BAM 3,783 thousand

 • Bonds of Republika Srpska – BAM 

16,527 thousand

 •  Bonds of government-owned 

enterprises – BAM 4,955 thousand

Equity securities listed on the stock 

exchange in Bosnia and Herzegovina:

Shares of private and public 

companies, banks and non-banking 

financial institutions– BAM 9,620 

institutions – thousand 

Equity securities listed on the stock 

exchange in Bosnia and Herzegovina: 

Shares of private and state companies, 

banks and non-banking financial 

institutions – BAM 2,214 thousand  

Investment fund shares: 

Open-end investment funds - BAM 

581 thousand 

Debt securities listed on the stock 

exchange in Bosnia and Herzegovina: 

• Bonds issued by the Federation of 

BiH - BAM 9,174 thousand 

•  Bonds of Republika Srpska – BAM 

16,855 thousand  

Prices quoted in 

an active market. 

method

Prices quoted in an 

active market, 

Prices derived from 

the prices of other 

securities quoted 

in an active market 

Discounted cash 

flow 

Level 1

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Financial assets / 

financial liabilities 

Fair value as at 
Fair value 

hierarchy 

Valuation 

techniques 

and key 

inputs 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

34.      FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

34.1 	 Fair value of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, 
from period to period 

Some of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets 
and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used). 

Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and Independent Auditor’s Report 
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34.2 Fair value of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value            
on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required) 
Except as detailed in the following table, the Management consider that the carrying amounts of financial 
assets and financial liabilities recognised in the financial statements approximate their fair values. 

Financial assets  
Loans and receivables: 
- Loans and receivables at 
amortized cost 
 - Debt instruments at 
amortised cost 

Financial liabilities 
At amortized cost: 
- Deposits from clients and 
other banks; loans from other 
banks and financial institution 
- Subordinated debt 

Financial assets  
Loans and receivables 
- Loans to customers and 
receivables at amortised cost 
- Debt instruments at 
amortised cost 

Financial liabilities 
At amortised cost: 

- Due to customers, other 
banks and financial liabilities 
- Subordinated debt 

Carrying
amount
	
	

1.772.556	

25.636	
	
	

2.614.397	

1.432	

-

-
-

1.849.751

26.761
1.876.512

1.849.751

26.761
1.876.512

-

-
-

-
-
_

-
-
_

2.598.012
1.389
2.599.401

2.598.012
1.389
2.599.401

Fair 
value 

1.849.751

26.761

2.598.012

1.389

Carrying
amount

1.618.885

-

2.434.434

1.432

Fair
value

1.694.163

-

2.418.652

1.389

31. december 2023.

Fair value hierarchy as of 31 December 2023 

31. december 2022.

Level 1	 Level 2 Level 3	 Level 4	
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The fair value of financial assets and liabilities included in the above categories of Level 2 were determined 
according to generally accepted models of assessment based on an analysis of discounted cash flows, 
the discount rate as most important input data, which reflects the credit risk of counterparties. As the 
discount rate used in the weighted average interest rate on the state level, published by CBBH separately 
for legal entities and individuals. 

35.  EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

36.  APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In accordance with the allegations of the Management Board, in the period after the date of the financial 
statements and until the date of this report, there were no events or transactions that would significantly 
affect the financial statements as of 31 December 2023. 

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 19 February 2024.: 

Samir Mustafić
     President of the Board 

Edina Vuk
Member of the Board 
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